

# Reproductive Health Cost Reporting System A User Guide

February 2018

MS-18-126





# **Reproductive Health Cost Reporting System** A User Guide

Scott Moreland, PhD, Shaylen Foley, MPH, and Stacie Gobin, MPH

February 2018

MEASURE Evaluation University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill 123 West Franklin Street, Suite 330 Chapel Hill, NC 27516 USA Phone: +1 919-445-9350 measure@unc.edu www.measureevaluation.org This publication was produced with the support of the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) under the terms of the MEASURE Evaluation cooperative agreement AID-OAA-L-14-00004. MEASURE Evaluation is implemented by the Carolina Population Center, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in partnership with ICF International; John Snow, Inc.; Management Sciences for Health; Palladium; and Tulane University. Views expressed are not necessarily those of USAID or the United States government. MS-18-126.

ISBN: 978-1-64232-008-4





### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work has benefited from contributions and collaboration with several people and organizations. First, we are grateful for the financial and technical support of the Office of Population at the United States Agency for International Development. We are also thankful for early collaboration with the Family Guidance Association of Ethiopia (FGAE) during which much of the formative work and foundation for the resulting system were developed. At FGAE, we would like to thank the executive director, Genet Mengistu, who provided us unbridled access to the FGAE system in three regions of the country. During that phase of the project, Annie Chen, who at that time worked for Futures Group (now Palladium), helped with earlier designs and field tests of the system with FGAE. Palladium colleague Stacie Gobin assisted with data capture in Ethiopia, data consolidation, and initial system development. These early experiences profoundly influenced the ultimate design of the system. Finally, we express our appreciation for the wonderful computer programming support provided by Palladium's information and communication technology team in South Africa, led by Matthew Deas, without whom the current Reproductive Health Cost Reporting System (RHCRS) would not be what it is today.

We thank MEASURE Evaluation's knowledge management team, for their editorial and production services.

## CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	3
ABBREVIATIONS	5
INTRODUCTION	6
Why is it useful?	. 6
How is the RHCRS different from other costing tools?	. 6
What is contained in this guide?	
1. SYSTEM OVERVIEW	8
1.1. How does the system work?	. 8
1.2. Who should use this tool?	. 8
1.3. How was the tool developed?	. 8
2. THE BASICS OF COSTING FAMILY PLANNING AND HEALTH PROGRAMS	10
2.0. Background	. 10
2.1. Cost Management Tool versus Cost Studies	. 10
2.2. Determining a Cost Estimation Approach	. 11
2.3 Methodological Approaches to Cost Estimation	. 12
2.4 Categorizing Resources in Cost Estimation	. 13
2.5. Other Key Components of Cost Estimation	.14
3. Preparing to Use RHCRS	15
3.1. "Is RHCRS a good fit?": Pre-Data Capture Self-Assessment Form	. 15
3.2. "What data are needed?": Overview of the Data Necessary for RHCRS	. 19
3.3 "What are the sources of the data?": Data Collection and Sampling Considerations	. 22
4. Using the RHCRS	25
4.1. System Configuration	. 25
4.2. Data Capture: Site-Level Costs	. 37
4.3. Data Capture: Time and Labor Study	. 46
5. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	57
5.1. Assumptions and Limitations	. 57
5.2. Cost per Service Calculations	. 64
5.3. Glossary of Relevant Terms	. 65
5.4. References	. 66

## **ABBREVIATIONS**

CCOHTA	Canadian Coordinating Office for Health Technology Assessment
GHeL	Global Health eLearning
RHCRS	Reproductive Health Cost Reporting System
RH	reproductive health
SDP	service delivery points

### INTRODUCTION

The Reproductive Health Cost Reporting System (RHCRS) is a management tool that can help reproductive health (RH) service delivery organizations to capture and analyze existing financial data on a regular basis. As such, it is designed to treat financial, commodity, labor, and other cost data as inputs to a system that allows service delivery organizations to estimate what it costs to deliver specific services, what the cost drivers are, and how these costs may differ across service delivery points (SDPs), across regions and over time.

Organizations frequently collect service delivery counts and track expenditures on human resources and labor, medical supplies and procurement, and other regularly incurred office and equipment expenses. Yet, these data are rarely assessed together, let alone annually. The RHCRS allows organizations to use these records **to calculate the average cost of their services.** These unit costs can then be compared across sites and regions of the organization and broken down by various cost elements. Annual data enable programs to assess trends in service costs. Reports and graphics are available to illustrate and summarize these comparisons.

#### Why is it useful?

# The RHCRS helps programs that deliver family planning and other health service delivery programs to understand their costs and use this information to inform decision making.

Understanding the cost of health services can help programs manage funds and budgets more effectively, estimate government reimbursement or patient charges per service with increased accuracy, or inform service provision decisions. Information about the cost of different services both across an organization and at individual sites allows for better resource allocation and potential cost reduction. At the program level, knowing how much individual services cost allows for better planning and budget tracking and anticipation of funding gaps.

#### How is the RHCRS different from other costing tools?

First, RHCRS is a cost analysis system, not a cost forecasting tool or cost analysis study. Most available tools assist organizations with forecasting costs, estimating scale-up, or planning supplies. These tools are unable to estimate an organization's cost per service, as the RHCRS does. Most cost analysis studies are highly specific to the organization and the services being studied. Often, cost elements in one study are not available in another, similar study. The RHCRS offers a standardized platform for cost analysis. Second, it allows organizations to make comparisons across multiple service delivery sites and regions. Third, the system is designed to capture *existing* data on a regular basis, potentially over the course of multiple years. Most costing exercises are one-time occurrences that rarely capture trends over time. Last, the system is designed as a general cost analysis system that can be completely customized for any health delivery system.

#### What is in this guide?

The purpose of this guide is to provide organizations using the Reproductive Health Cost Reporting System with information about how the system works and who it is intended for, and a detailed tutorial on how to use it.

Section 1 provides a short introduction to costing for family planning and other health programs, focusing on the components that are important for using RHCRS. This is followed by a pre-data capture self-assessment

and a description of the cost data required to use the system, which will help organizations determine if the RHCRS is a good fit based on program features, data capacity, and question of interest. The guide then provides a comprehensive description of how to navigate the system, complete the configuration process, enter collected data, and use the accompanying dashboard. Finally, the guide discusses how to interpret the results, while also highlighting the limitations of costing family planning programs using RHCRS.

### **1. SYSTEM OVERVIEW**

#### 1.1. How does the system work?

The RHCRS requires several steps:

- 1. **Complete** a web-based configuration process
- 2. **Download** customized data capture forms
- 3. **Prepare** and enter data into the capture tools
- 4. Upload the capture tools to the web-based system and check uploaded data
- 5. **Explore** the dashboard summarizing cost data with tables and visualizations

The RHCRS first requires users to create a web-based account (<u>https://rhcrs.measureevaluation.org/</u>). This account provides users with instructions for customizing their data collection tools to their organization's needs by entering organization-specific information, such as site names, employee types, services, and commodities. These elements define four separate Microsoft Excel data capture forms, which can then be downloaded. One file will capture the amount of time employees spend delivering different services. The others will capture site-level costs and service delivery data, with one file for administrative sites and another for service delivery sites. Once data are entered in the Excel data capture files, they will then be uploaded to the organization's online account, and the system displays results in an interactive dashboard.

#### 1.2. Who should use this tool?

This tool is ideal for organizations that (1) provide family planning or reproductive health services, (2) have multiple SDPs, (3) are located in a low- or middle-income country, and (4) wish to invest in the regular collection of cost data.

This tool was developed following a thorough review of the literature on family planning costing research globally, and it was pilot-tested at a health organization in Africa. While the RHCRS is intended for organizations in low- and middle-income countries that provide family planning and reproductive health services and have multiple SDPs, it is general enough that it is appropriate for organizations in developed countries.

For a more detailed assessment of how well an organization fits with RHCRS, please use the <u>Pre-Data</u> <u>Capture Self-Assessment Form</u>.

#### 1.3. How was the tool developed?

In June 2011, MEASURE Evaluation produced a review of the cost estimates found in the existing literature on the unit costs of family planning for an expert meeting (Moreland, 2011). The study built on previous efforts, in particular the RH costing database compiled by the United Nations Population Fund in 2003, updating it to the year 2010. The study looked at which cost elements were included (personnel costs, FP commodities, supplies, facility and administrative overhead costs, capital costs, training and information, education, and communication materials) and what methodologies were used to collect, calculate, and allocate these different costs. The findings of the review suggested that FP costing studies are vague when it comes to explaining the methodologies used to assess and allocate costs.

In preparation for the development of a cost reporting system in 2014, MEASURE Evaluation used and expanded upon this review to incorporate an additional review of global health costing tools already in use. This additional review found that there is a gap in the costing tools currently available to family planning programs that have multiple service delivery outlets and are driven by the regular reporting of cost data. This research informed the first round of development for the RHCRS.

The data-capture Excel forms developed through this process were then pilot-tested with the help of a large African reproductive health organization with more than 50 SDPs, including both clinical and community-based delivery, and a wide range both of family planning and nonfamily planning services. The data were then used to further refine the data capture forms and develop a prototype of the RHCRS dashboard.

### 2. THE BASICS OF COSTING FAMILY PLANNING AND HEALTH PROGRAMS

This section introduces some basic concepts of cost analysis (often referred to as "costing"), with a focus on those aspects that are relevant to family planning health services. For those who want to skip directly to the section describing how to prepare for using RHCRS (<u>Section 3</u>).

#### 2.0. Background

Despite the usefulness of **cost analysis** in family planning and reproductive health arenas, there are few resources available to assist organizations in regularly reporting and calculating their costs (Godbole & Smith, 2014). Additionally, using global estimates from published costing studies of family planning services is problematic. There is great variation in the cost elements included, the methods used to gather costs, and geographic coverage, making comparisons and use of the data in other settings difficult; reviews of the literature on this topic demonstrate how much variation exists in the process (Weissman & Stover, 2011).

The RHCRS was developed to help programs sidestep this complexity by using a preformatted, standardized cost allocation process, developed through in-depth review of the literature and field-testing with actual family planning programs.

#### 2.1. Cost Management Tool versus Cost Studies

Cost analysis is a type of partial economic evaluation that deals only with the cost description of multiple interventions or programs. This is different from other forms of full economic evaluation, because it does not involve linking the cost of an activity to a health benefit or outcome measure (United States Agency for International Development Global Health eLearning [GHeL] Center, 2011). Cost analysis studies are typically retrospective in nature and use real price data. The result or output of a cost analysis study is typically the average cost per unit (Janowitz & Bratt, 1994). While this is similar to the RHCRS, which outputs average **cost per service**, the RHCRS is not a cost study. This is because cost studies are often one-off studies that will differ in approach and structure based on the existing records that are in place at an organization. RHCRS is more of a management tool that is intended to systematize the collection of existing financial, human resource, equipment, and service delivery data over time.

It is important also to highlight why RHCRS is different from other cost management tools. Most tools are used for cost projection, which is used to inform national or institutional budgeting, planning, and implementation for health programs or services. This is not a type of economic evaluation and differs from the cost analysis approach used in RHCRS in several ways. First, a cost projection is used to estimate costs in the future, so while existing cost data may be used to make these estimates, the level of precision is lower than in a cost analysis. Second, because the data used have less detail or are obtained from national data sources, cost projections are not able to produce the cost per service measures that result from a cost analysis study.

RHCRS differs from many of the other "costing" tools available on the Internet, because it helps organizations manage their own cost data to obtain cost per service measures and to view variation in that information from year to year.

#### 2.2. Determining a Cost Estimation Approach

While there is no consensus on the exact method of cost estimation within family planning, it is widely held that resource use should be measured in physical or natural units (Canadian Coordinating Office for Health Technology Assessment [CCOHTA], 1996; Slothuus, 2000; Elliot & Payne, 2005). Selection of the appropriate cost estimation method is determined by the following (Beecham, 1995; CCOHTA, 1996; Brouwer, Rutten, & Koopmanschap, 2001; Oostenbrink, Koopmanschap, & Rutten, 2002):

- Perspective of the study
- Decision problem
- Availability and feasibility of data measurement

#### Perspective

The perspective of a cost analysis can affect the decision problem being addressed, method, cost elements, and statistical analysis. The perspective of the study should be determined at the outset. Possible perspectives are patient, provider, purchaser (payer), sponsor (e.g., employer), government, and societal (Luce, Manning, Siegel, & Lipscomb, 1996).

The RHCRS is focused on the provider perspective, because the user is concerned with all aspects of the cost of providing treatment, as well as any expected revenues associated with increased demand for services. RHCRS is not concerned with out-of-pocket patient costs, costs to society, or other "upstream" costs incurred outside of the organization itself.

#### **Decision Problem**

A decision problem is the economic question one wishes to answer when conducting cost estimation. The possible decision problems that might be informed by a cost assessment may be the following:

- 1. Cost comparison between providers
- 2. Cost comparison between SDPs
- 3. Cost comparison between providers in different geographical areas
- 4. Benchmarking for services/providers
- 5. Identification of areas for efficiency/cost reduction
- 6. Assessment of value for money
- 7. Budgeting and program planning

For examples of specific decision problems addressed by RHCRS, please see the <u>Pre-Data Capture Self-Assessment Form</u>.

#### Availability and Feasibility of Data Measurement

A data capture form is only as useful as the data entered in it (Conteh & Walker, 2004). Poor data containing numerical errors, quality or consistency issues, or incongruent information across sites will make using the tool and producing accurate results difficult. The following list summarizes basic tenets of data quality (MEASURE Evaluation, 2015):

Accuracy—It measures what it was intended to measure.

Completeness—Data are collected comprehensively.

Reliability—Repeated measurements using the same procedures get the same results.

Timeliness—Up-to-date and available on time

Confidentiality—Clients' data are not disseminated.

Precision—Have sufficient detail to use for decision making.

Integrity-Protected from bias or manipulation

In the case of the RHCRS, programs must have routine data collection records on financial expenditures, labor, and more. If a program has limited or no routine data collection taking place within these categories, using the RHCRS will be very difficult, if not impossible.

To double-check that your organization is collecting the data necessary for using the RHCRS, please use the <u>Pre-Data Capture Self-Assessment Form</u> and review Section 3.2 on "What data are needed?"

#### 2.3 Methodological Approaches to Cost Estimation

#### Data Collection Timing

Costing studies can be prospective, concurrent, or retrospective. Concurrent approaches can be used when it is possible to collect data during the implementation of the health service activity. Prospective approaches involve eliciting expectations about resource use from stakeholders who are knowledgeable about the implementation of the health service activity. Retrospective approaches use existing data and information on the resources consumed during the development and implementation of the relevant health service activity. Though retrospective cost estimation methods are often the least costly approach, they rely on the availability and accuracy of the original database and cost recording systems, meaning that accuracy and reliability can vary widely (Luce, Manning, Siegel, & Lipscomb, 1996; Slothuus, 2000).

#### Bottom-Up verses Top-Down Approaches

Another important aspect of cost estimation is deciding whether to use a bottom-up or top-down approach.

There is no consensus as to which is more appropriate. The decision on which approach to use is based primarily on what cost data are available. Bottom-up approaches can be either retrospective or prospective. Bottom-up approaches, including direct observation and patient flow analyses, are more detailed, accurate, and reliable cost estimates. The bottom-up approach has been clearly defined for family planning by Janowitz and Bratt (1994). However, there are components of family-planning service provision that may be missed using bottom-up approaches, including start-up, social and behavior change and demand-creation efforts, training, and administrative overhead. Because they frequently rely on financial and accounting records and other databases, top-down approaches are retrospective (Gyldmark, 1995; Slothuus, 2000). Top-down methods are more appropriate for estimating the cost of implementing a family planning program (broader than family planning service delivery).

Based on the perspective and related decision problems of RHCRS, the tool uses a retrospective, top-down approach. This means that the tool makes use of existing, routine data from accounting and billing records, financial reporting systems, inventory records, surveillance systems, and similar sources. In the case of labor,

a hybrid approach will be used, with records of staff counts per site and generalized staff salaries being topdown and the time staff spend on specific services collected being a more bottom-up approach.

#### 2.4 Categorizing Resources in Cost Estimation

A key factor in estimating unit costs of service delivery is the identification of relevant resource items (or costs). Examples of resource types are the following:

- Administration
- Labor/personnel
- Equipment
- Buildings/land/rent
- Administration
- Other direct costs (commodities, goods, services)
- Donations (labor and goods)

A primary objective of a cost analysis is determining how to classify resource items. Input costs can be classified and calculated in several different ways. The following pairs of health economics terms are commonly used to classify costs and are important for understanding the breakdown of costs for RHCRS:

- Direct versus indirect costs
- Capital versus recurrent costs

**Direct costs** refer to those resources consumed in the provision of healthcare services that can be clearly linked to the service. They can be further separated into direct medical costs and direct nonmedical costs. Direct nonmedical costs refer to resources used to support the medical services or interventions delivered (e.g., travel, patient and caregiver time). For the purposes of the RHCRS, we are interested in direct costs for commodities and labor. We are not interested in direct nonmedical costs.

**Indirect costs** that cannot be directly identified with a service or product, but are included in the costs of supporting the activities, include, for example, costs associated with collecting statistics and clinic administrators and their supplies. Indirect costs can also be related to production losses caused by illness or premature death, but the term will not be used that way for the purposes of this tool (Janowitz & Bratt, 1994; Elliot & Payne, 2005).

**Recurrent costs** are expenses incurred in the day-to-day provision of services, apart from personnel and commodity and pharmaceutical costs. These may include, for example, building utilities and rent and transportation and fuel costs. Recurrent costs are relatively simple to calculate when their market price reflects their opportunity price (Janowitz & Bratt, 1994; Elliot & Payne, 2005).

**Capital Costs** are considered investment expenses and are treated differently than operating costs. Capital costs, such as buying a new asset, generally have foreseen benefits longer than one year. Organizations may have their own, local definition of what is to be included in capital costs and how the rules for financial management and for assessing the current value of these costs should be applied. Capital costs are depreciated over a defined period. In addition to depreciation, the opportunity cost of capital must be considered.

For the RHCRS, cost categories are established for the user. Clear explanations of how resources fit into these categories are presented in <u>Section 3.2.</u>

#### 2.5. Other Key Components of Cost Estimation

#### Donated Resources

Often, health programs, especially those run by nongovernmental organizations, receive donated resources. For example, a family planning program may receive contraceptives from a donor at no cost to the organization. Or a program may benefit from volunteer labor. These types of resources, including donations of goods or labor, are not recorded in the financial costs or expenditures for a program. As such, the economic value of these resources, or their cost, must be accounted for through an estimation of the donated resource's market price (Janowitz & Bratt, 1994; Johns, Baltussen, & Hutubessy, 2003). Whether or not a cost analysis accounts for such costs depends on the nature of the research problem at hand (Conteh & Walker, 2004). For the RHCRS, opportunity costs are not considered for personnel (like volunteer time) but are considered for large items and equipment or commodities used directly in the provision of family planning services (Janowitz & Bratt, 1994).

#### Cost Allocation

Cost allocation is the assignment of costs to various "cost centers." Cost centers are typically institutional departments, technical areas, or service areas. The terms cost distribution, cost apportionment, and cost assignment are often used interchangeably with cost allocation. There are three primary steps in cost allocation (Zimmerman, 2003):

- Select and describe cost objects.
- Identify and accumulate overheads to be assigned to cost objects.
- Choose a method and allocation base for overhead allocation.

The RHCRS is developed with preset cost categories, which means the cost allocation process is built into the system itself and is not dependent on the user. This cost allocation process is used to determine the annual costs associated with specific family planning and reproductive health services.

#### Cost per Service Calculations

The calculation of average cost per service requires two primary pieces of information: (1) the annual total costs associated with providing a service at a specific site and (2) the number of instances that service has been provided. The annual cost of providing a service is divided by the number of services, resulting in the average cost per service for each site where data are collected (Conteh & Walker, 2004). Both units of information should use a consistent reporting period. For a full breakdown of the calculations used to allocate and determine cost per service, please see Section 5.2.

### **3. Preparing to Use RHCRS**

Before starting online configuration or data collection, be certain that this system will help your organization. The Pre-Capture Assessment form will help organizations assess their fit with the system. If RHCRS is a good fit, the remaining sections will help the user understand what data are needed and how to develop a data collection plan.

#### 3.1. "Is RHCRS a good fit?": Pre-Data Capture Self-Assessment Form

Use the following table to assess whether your organization meets the criteria for using the RHCRS. The assessment comprises three parts. Part 1 assesses whether your organization is an appropriate fit based on aspects of the services provided and location. Part 2 outlines data capacity, enabling organizations to understand if the data they have is of high enough quality. Part 3 will help determine if the RHCRS can answer the cost-related question your organization wishes to answer.

Program Feature	Is RHCRS a good fit?
Question 1. Does the organization have multiple service delivery points?	Service Delivery Points:
YES, multiple service delivery points>	Yes, good fit.
NO, single site>	Yes, but some functions of how data results are viewed on the dashboard will not be applicable.
Question 2. Are there different types of service delivery approaches across sites? (i.e., are some sites clinical, while others use community-based approaches or target specific high-risk populations?)	Service Delivery Approach:
NO, multiple service delivery points, all have the same delivery approach>	Yes, good fit.
YES, multiple service delivery points with variation in delivery approach ————>	Yes, but extra care needs to be taken during system configuration to ensure that your organization-specific lists for the types of services delivered and commodities used are applicable to all SDPs.

#### Part 1. Program Characteristics

Program Feature	Is RHCRS a good fit?
Question 3. Does the organization provide only family planning services? (clinical and nonclinical)	Service Type:
YES, family planning services only ————>	Yes, good fit.
NO, family planning services and nonfamily planning services ————>	Yes, good fit. The system was tested with organizations providing a range of primary care services in addition to family planning services. Regardless, some of the standardized lists provided for users may be less appropriate, depending on the nature of the other services provided.
NO, only nonfamily planning services>	Potentially inappropriate at this time.
Question 4. Is the organization located in a low- or middle-income country?	Location:
YES, low- or middle-income country>	Yes, good fit.
NO, higher-income country>	Potentially less appropriate.

#### Part 2. Answers: Data Capacity

To effectively use the Reproductive Health Cost Reporting System, organizations must already be collecting the right kind of data, making data availability essential.

Questions 5. Does the organization track routine financial data, including records of staff pay, procurement or commodity costs and use, recurrent costs like building and transportation expenses, and administrative or overhead expenses?	Financial Data Availability:
YES, the program keeps track of these kinds of expense data>	Yes, this makes RHCRS a good fit.
NO, the program doesn't routinely collect these types of data ——>	Organization will not be able to use the system.

Question 6. Does the organization track the number of times specific services are delivered by site (service delivery counts)?	Service Data Availability:
YES, program keeps track of service delivery counts >	Yes, this makes RHCRS a good fit.
NO, program doesn't routinely collect the necessary data ———>	Organization will not be able to use the system.

If an organization is collecting the correct types of data, it is equally essential that these data be of high enough quality to use in the system.

- 7. Does the organization have written **policies and procedures** for data collection/reporting?
- 8. Are there **clear definitions of roles** and responsibilities at all levels of the organization related to the collection of program data?
- 9. Does the data collected reflect **stable and consistent data collection processes** and analysis methods over time?
- 10. Does the organization use **consistent tools or templates** with clear instructions for collecting both financial and service delivery data?
- 11. If consistent tools are used, do they have safeguards to minimize the **risk of transcription error** or data manipulation?

Questions 7-11. Data Quality:	
YES, the organization has data collection policies in place, with clearly defined staff roles and consistent templates using safeguards ————>	Yes, this makes RHCRS a good fit.
NO, the quality of the data collected is uncertain->	Use of the system may prove challenging if expense or service data are collected using inconsistent tools or templates that lack safeguards. If staff are reporting things differently across sites or use differing reporting processes, results from the analysis may have weaknesses or the potential for error.

#### Part 3. Answers: Decision Problem/Question of Interest

- 12. I am interested in using this tool to compare the **cost of services** across different delivery sites.
- 13. I am interested in using this tool to **budget** a program.
- 14. I am interested in using this tool to set **reimbursement rates** or client fees.
- 15. I am interested in using this tool to **advocate** funding.
- 16. I am interested in using this tool to **predict or project costs.**
- 17. I am interested in using this tool to create a **national budget.**
- 18. I am interested in using this tool to assess **cost-effectiveness.**

If you answered **YES** to **Questions 12, 13, or 14,** this tool will potentially be **directly relevant** for your purposes.

If you answered **YES** to **Questions 15, 16, 17, or 18,** the RHCRS may be of interest if used in conjunction with other information.

For a more complete explanation of the potential research questions this tool can assess, please review the following table:

Direct Fit	Explanation
I want to <b>compare the cost of services</b> across different delivery sites.	Yes, good fit. The system allows you to calculate the average cost per service and compare these costs across sites.
I want to <b>budget a health program</b> or make programmatic changes to increase efficiency or effectively deal with a budget cut.	Yes, good fit. The average cost per service may help you identify inefficiencies between sites or in the delivery of specific services.
I want to set accurate <b>reimbursement rates</b> from clients or funders.	Yes, good fit. The average cost per service will allow you to set more accurate fees or rates.
Indirect Fit	Explanation
I want to use cost data to <b>advocate</b> more funding.	Potentially—but additional information would be required.
I want to <b>predict or project</b> health service costs for program planning.	The RHCRS could potentially be used when paired with a projection of services.
I want to plan a country's <b>national budget.</b>	The RHCRS will only provide unit costs of specific services for the organization using it.
I want to do a <b>cost-benefit or cost-effectiveness</b> <b>analysis</b> (because I want to know things like cost per visit or cost per "couple year of contraception" (CYP), which link cost data to outcomes).	The RHCRS does not link the cost data collected to health benefits or monetary outcomes, but instead focuses on cost drivers and calculating cost per service. Someone with outside experience in economic evaluation may be able to use data produced by the RHCRS to do more complex assessments outside of the system. The RHCRS on its own is not able to conduct cost-effectiveness analysis.

#### 3.2. "What data are needed?": Overview of the Data Necessary for RHCRS

To use the RHCRS, you will need to collect data on all of the program's resources across all selected sites and at administrative headquarters for a 12-month period.

The following list gives a basic overview of the types of site-level data records that will be necessary when using the RHCRS:

#### • Labor:

*Salary, payroll, or pay slip information and records* for staff directly involved in the provision of FP and RH services (including clinical, outreach, or laboratory staff), as well as administrative staff (including laboratory, secretarial, cleaning, driving, or management staff). Have both quantity (number of staff), as well as average salary by staff type.

#### • Recurrent costs:

*Building-related expense records* like rent bills, utility bills, and mortgage or purchase papers for land/ buildings

Transportation-related records on gasoline/petrol expenses or reimbursements

• Services:

Service delivery records or aggregate data from patient medical records on what services were conducted over the course of the reporting period

#### • Commodity costs:

*Procurement or purchase records* for all contraceptives, medical and laboratory supplies, pharmaceuticals, diagnostics, medical devices and instruments, and other commodities. As with labor, you need to have both the quantity purchased and the cost per item (or the estimated market value for donated items).

#### • Capital costs:

*Transportation-related records* on the purchase dates and cost of vehicles *An inventory of furniture or large equipment* in use, including purchase/donation dates and monetary value

Remember that this information must be collected for each SDP and any administrative offices or headquarters that are not responsible for direct service provision.

#### Defining the Reporting Period

For the RHCRS, cost data should reflect a 12-month period so that the annual costs calculated are accurate. This is referred to as the reporting period. For example, the reporting period could be January 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016. All records and data collected will need to span this period.

#### Determining Which Data Go into Which Category

Once you have collected the routine data records for your program, you need to know how to appropriately group the data when entering it for use in the RHCRS. When doing cost analysis, resources can be broadly grouped into labor, capital, and materials/supplies (Janowitz & Bratt, 1994). For the RHCRS, categorization of cost data is separated into five major areas: capital costs, recurrent costs, labor costs, service delivery, and commodity costs. The following section defines and provides examples for each category for the purposes of this tool.

#### **Capital Costs**

Capital costs are considered investment expenses that have foreseen benefits lasting longer than one year. In the case of RHCRS, capital costs are considered for assets that are *used for longer than a year* AND worth more than a user-defined amount (e.g., \$1,000). This list includes the following:

• Medical equipment (e.g., Hematocrit centrifuge, Pima CD4 Analyzer, operating lamps, or diagnostic devices)

- Furniture (e.g., hospital beds, operating tables, and desks)
- Vehicle (ambulances or other vehicles used for program-related transport)
- Computers (e.g., laptops/computers and one-time purchase software)
- Miscellaneous equipment (e.g., printers/photocopiers, projectors, generators, and televisions)
- Buildings (e.g., purchased buildings or land)

Information on these costs can be aggregated from purchase records, inventory data, and building- or transportation-related records.

You will need to locate the following information from your records for each capital cost item:

- Name of the item (e.g., Pima CD4 Analyzer)
- The market value for each item when it was purchased or received (If the program paid for the item, use the financial cost, or how much was paid for it; if the item was donated, estimate how much it would have been worth when donated.) *Remember that the market value should be above the specified amount—if it is not, you must categorize the item(s) under the commodity costs category.*
- Quantity (do you have one Pima CD4 Analyzer or five?)
- The purchase or donation date of each item (If you have five Pima CD4 Analyzers, you need this information for each one, if they were not purchased together.)

#### **Recurrent Costs**

Recurrent, or operating, costs are expenses incurred in the day-to-day running of the treatment activities, program activities, business, or facility. Think of these costs as something the program spends money on consistently every single month to keep operations going.

The following list comprehensively defines the typical recurrent costs for family planning programs:

- Building rent
- Utilities (water, gasoline or oil, refuse/waste/trash, and electricity)
- Internet
- Telephone
- Vehicle rental
- Petrol/gasoline costs for transport
- Regularly purchased stationary and office supplies
- Maintenance and renovation to building, equipment, or vehicles
- Printing, publication, and promotional materials

For each recurrent cost, you will need to calculate **a total annual cost** from your records to be entered into the RHCRS.

#### Labor

Labor costs can be divided into two components, direct labor costs and indirect labor. Direct labor costs are the costs of employees directly engaged in providing services to clients. Indirect costs are the costs of staff that support direct employees but do not engage in direct service provision. For the purposes of the RHCRS, these two categories of cost data are collected slightly differently. For each site, the number of direct

and indirect employees will be collected. This data will then be linked to average salary amounts for each employee type (which is entered in the system prior to actual data collection).

An additional step for direct employees involves collecting data on the time each provider spends delivering specific services to clients. These data are collected using the time and labor capture tool described in <u>Section</u> <u>4.3</u>. Establishing a data collection plan that addresses the capture of time and labor information is discussed in <u>Section 3.3</u>.

#### Service Delivery

This category is not a cost element. For this component of the RHCRS, information related to direct service provision at each SDP must be entered. Specifically, the tool asks for the number of times each service was performed over the course of a year.

#### Commodity Costs

Commodity data should come from procurement or purchase records, or may be found in a commodity logistics system. You will need to extract the commodity name, the annual quantity used at the SDP, and the unit cost. Working with commodity data can be confusing, because the quantities of items may come in a variety of options depending on the seller and how items are purchased. For example, pharmaceuticals may vary in strength and quantity (e.g., 200 mg amoxicillin, 200 capsules). Medical supplies may vary in size and quantity (e.g., plastic speculum, size small, medium, large, in packs of 100 or 500, versus metal speculum sizes small, medium, and large, purchased individually).

In order to handle this type of variation, the RHCRS provides a standard list of commodities that eliminate all quantity amounts. Users can alter the list or create their own to meet their needs. Since variation in volume size and packaging amount is not included in the standardized commodity list, those entering the unit price must make sure to properly account for the quantities being used. Ideally, the user should record commodities using a unit cost, or the cost for a single unit of an item. For example, if the commodity list says "condoms, male" and this refers to individual condoms, procurement records listing 200 boxes of 1,000 male condoms, costing \$200 each, should be recorded as 200,000 male condoms at \$0.20 each. This information could also be listed as 200 male condoms at \$200 apiece. It important that the quantity and the price are listed in a consistent fashion. All users entering information in the capture forms must have a clear understanding of how to input prices and units for communities so that data are consistently collected across the organization.

For the purposes of the RHCRS, costs for commodities that are directly used in a service are referred to as "direct commodities." For example, an intrauterine device (IUD) is a commodity directly linked to a family planning service. These direct commodities need to be separated from the other commodities, which are referred to as indirect commodities. An example of an indirect commodity would be rubber gloves or handwashing soap. The system configuration section will provide detail on how to do this prior to data collection.

#### **Training Costs**

Training costs are any costs associated with conducting staff training at any level of the organization. These could take a wide variety of forms and might include trainings for new staff, retraining for existing staff, professional development, or new equipment/protocol trainings. If the costs were incurred by the headquarters of a regional office, then they should be reported at those levels. If there are specific trainings that take place at the SDP level, then the costs associated with those trainings should be reported in the capture tool for that individual SDP.

# 3.3 "What are the sources of the data?": Data Collection and Sampling Considerations

Now that you know the types of data needed to use the RHCRS, it is important to decide on a data collection plan. Every program will require different approaches, depending on current structure, data reporting, and staffing/resource availability. Your approach will need to consider the two different data elements:

- 1. Site-level expenditure costs
- Captured using three data capture forms (headquarters, area offices, and SDPs)
- Whether to sample sites or collect data from every site
- Frequency of data collection, ideally collected annually
- 2. Direct staff time spent on service delivery
- Captured using the Time and Labor Form, which allows the user to survey staff involved in service delivery to assess how many minutes they spend on providing different services
- The surveys do not need to be administered at every site, but a sample of providers will need to be selected based on their type (e.g., midwife, nurse, or doctor)
- Information does not need to be collected annually, but can be done every two to five years, as determined necessary

These two types of data will require different approaches to data collection. Use the following questions to better prepare for system configuration and data collection for the first type of data, site-level expenditures:

# How are financial data currently collected? Are they collected by site and then aggregated at the national or regional level, or do sites maintain data separately?

Every program will use different management systems to track expenses. If your organization has a centralized data collection system for all SDPs, there is no need to work individually with each SDP unless you need to collect expense-related information not captured in the system (like inventory data on buildings, vehicles, or equipment).

If the program has no centralized approach to routine data tracking for expenditures, records will need to be collected directly at the SDP level. This may involve site visits to collect specific information not captured through the larger data systems.

# Are some data points (e.g., procurement and commodity records) collected differently than other records (e.g., recurrent building expenses or service delivery)?

If information from different categories is collected or aggregated differently across sites, this may increase the amount of effort to acquire and enter what is required. For example, you might find that procurement data are available for all SDPs at the national level but that the service delivery statistics are maintained at the site level. Understanding how and where data are stored and kept at your organization will help you determine the best strategy for how to access and collect them efficiently.

# Will someone need to do site visits to collect the data listed above—or can that be done at regional or national offices?

Based on the answers to the first two questions, an organization interested in using the RHCRS must decide whether site-level visits are required to collect the data needed for the system. Staff already located at specific sites may also be able to assist with data collection, but additional training should be considered in this case. If most data are collected at regional or national offices, a small number of staff might be able to assess and transfer data from available records in a short time without having to visit every SDP. This decision is up to the organization and should be based on the systems in place and resources/staff time available to commit to this activity.

#### Will you sample sites or collect data from every site?

Based on the organization's size and structure, you will need to decide whether or not to collect cost data from every SDP and administrative office or if you would like to collect data from a sample of sites. For smaller programs (fewer than 15 sites), it might be feasible to collect costs from each site. For medium-sized (15–30 sites) or large programs (more than 30 sites), this type of approach may not be feasible and sampling should be considered.

For medium and large organizations, determining whether sampling is necessary requires considering the resources available for this assessment alongside the feasibility of consolidating data from a large number of sites.

- **Current financial tracking system:** If every site/SDP tracks expenditures, labor, and commodities using different systems or approaches, the process of collecting and preparing decentralized data for use will be much longer and more time-consuming. You must consider feasibility carefully before determining your sampling approach. You may want to ensure high data quality for fewer sites over collecting data with errors or gaps for many sites.
- **Staffing:** We recommend having one or two primary staff members take responsibility for organizing data collection and ensuring data quality, with secondary staff members responsible for data entry at the site or regional level. If staffing time or funds are limited at a large organization, sampling may be necessary.

If sampling is needed, you will need to determine how to select a sample of SDPs. Though this guide cannot go into a detailed discussion of sampling, we recommend considering the following when preparing to use this system<sup>1</sup>:

- **Purposive selection:** Sites are selected based on specific features like size, geographical location, or data quality. In this situation, the sample should take into account factors that might impact costs. For example, if you have different regional locations, a rural versus urban setting, or other factors like the type of SDP (clinics, community-based distribution, etc.), facility size, or population served, you may want to sample so that you represent factors important to the organization and question of interest. Unfortunately, a purposive sample cannot be used to make inferences or generalization about the rest of the sites or a grouping of sites at the organization.
- **Stratified random sampling:** Sites are selected randomly from a subset of sites that meet a particular variable of interest. For example, a random set of sites within specific regional locations is selected. This approach would allow for generalization to all sites that share the chosen variable of interest. This approach may be ideal if the organization has to sample from SDPs overseen by regional administrative offices, because it would allow you to sample randomly within select geographically determined subset groupings.
- **Random sampling:** Sites are selected randomly in such a way as to be representative of all sites where service delivery or administration is taking place. Representative sampling ensures that sites selected randomly are similar to all of the sites at an organization based on specific attributes that could affect data quality. These attributes will be similar to those discussed above in the purposive sampling description—the primary difference is that a random subset of sites is selected within each attribute determined to be important to the organization and question of interest. Random sampling allows generalization or inference of data from samples sites to the rest of the organization.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Data Quality Audit Tool: Guidelines for Implementation, here: <u>https://www.measureevaluation.org/resources/publi-</u> cations/ms-08-29

For direct staff time spent on service delivery, use the following questions to guide decisions:

#### How many staff will be interviewed?

The more staff interviewed for each staff type, the more reliable the average time calculated per service per staff type will be. We recommend interviewing no fewer than three to five of each direct staff type. Of course, this is dependent upon availability. If the entire organization has one anesthesiologist, then you will interview only one anesthesiologist. If there are dozens of medical assistants—spread across 40 sites in five regions, for example—then it might be ideal to survey two to four in two or three regions. As with sampling sites, decisions should be based on feasibility. Other questions to ask yourself when deciding on how many staff to interview are the following:

- How many staff do we have across the organization in these service provision roles?
- Are there big regional differences that might change the time providers spend on different services?
- Do the staff roles vary because there are different types of SDPs (e.g., adolescent reproductive health counselors located at youth centers)?
- What resources do we have available to do these survey interviews?

#### Things to remember:

- Employee surveys do not need to cover all sites—or even the sites determined for the SDPs sample—but should instead be selected to maximize the number of each type of employee.
- These surveys can be done prior to, during, or after SDP data collection, but the system cannot process results accurately without this survey information. Different staff members can conduct the surveys in different locations (as long as their training in how to do the survey is consistent).
- The time and labor study does not need to be done every year; instead, the employee average salary information can be updated.

Take the above questions into consideration and then work with your team to determine the best approach for your organization's structure, resources, and interests. Develop a data collection plan that specifies:

#### Who will be responsible for

- ...customizing the system to reflect the organization
- ...SDP/site-level data entry
- ...organizing and conducting the time and labor study
- ...interpretation of data analysis and results

It is important to assign staff to manage or complete key tasks. With regard to the RHCRS, a team of staff might be needed to complete configuration within the online system, data collection using the capture tools, and data interpretation.

# How will the staff responsible for data entry and collection be trained on data entry and quality?

If data collection and entry are delegated to a large number of staff (who may or may not have investment in this activity), it is important that they are trained (either in person or remotely) on the reason for this work and the importance of entering high-quality data in the data capture forms. This decision is up to the organization and should be based on the systems in place and resources and staff time available to commit to this activity.

The data collection plan your team devises will become crucial when you start data capture. Be sure to have a good plan in place so that the process is efficient, data quality is ensured, and staff are not overburdened or unmotivated to complete their assigned tasks.

### 4. Using the RHCRS

After deciding to use the RHCRS and establishing a preliminary data collection plan that fits your organization, you can begin to use the online portal for system configuration. The purpose of this step is to prepare the system to collect organizationally specific information during data collection by altering or creating prepopulated lists of site names, services delivered, employee types, and commodities. The front-end preparation of creating these lists will ensure higher data quality and better results later.

#### 4.1. System Configuration

Information needed:

- A list of all sites and administrative or regional offices selected for data collection
- A list of **all services** delivered across all sites
- A list of **employee types and average salaries** by type
- A list of all **commodifies** and their related unit amounts and prices
- Knowledge of which commodities are used for specific services the program offers

#### Process summary:

- 1. Create a user account on the website where the system is hosted: rhcrs.measureevaluation.org.
- 2. Log in and invite others to create joint accounts.
- 3. Collect information for completing the customization process.
- 4. Complete customization for:
  - A. Area offices
  - B. Facility/SDP setup
  - C. Employee setup
  - D. Service types
  - E. Services
  - F. Commodities
  - G. Capital equipment types
  - H. Recurring costs
- 5. Enter appropriate information to customize defaults:
  - A. Service commodity management
  - B. Employee labor rate

#### **Step-by-Step Details of the Configuration Process**

#### 1. Create a user account.

The online system can be accessed at <u>https://rhcrs.measureevaluation.org/</u>. To create a new account in the online system, an email and password is required. The password must be at least six characters, contain one lowercase and uppercase letter (a–z), and have one nonletter digit or character. An example would be "Password1!" Be sure to select the appropriate local currency.

		Reproductive Health Cost Reporting System	<b>MEASURE</b> Evaluation
Register.			
Create a new account			
Email			
Local Currency	Ethiopian Birr		¥
Password			
Confirm password			
	Register		
	X Cancel		

Upon registration, you will receive a confirmation email containing a link. This link must be clicked to activate the account.



#### 2. Log in and invite others to create joint accounts.

After activating a new account, must return to the login page and enter the same email and password information to open your account.

	THE AMERICAN PEOPLE	Reproductive Health Co Reporting System	st <b>MEASURE</b> Evaluation
Email	scenario@mailinator.com		
Password			
	Remember me?		
Forgot your passwor	d?		

**Forgotten password?** Forgotten passwords can be reset using the forgotten password link below the login section. Entering your email address will prompt the system to send you an email that will allow you to do the resend.

	THE AMERICAN PEOPLE	Reproductive Health Cos Reporting System	st <b>MEASURE</b> Evaluation
Forgot pa			
Email			
	Email Link		
Back to Home			

**Invite other users:** Once the primary user has created an account, other users can be invited to a joint account. The primary user will click on the Invite option listed next to Logout on the top right-hand side of the page. This will bring up a page that allows the user to enter the email address for the invitation. Invited individuals will receive an email that walks them through the creation of their account.

porting System

**User management:** A user who has invited others to their account will be able to see the profiles of all invited parties in the User Management section. This primary account holder will be able to specify the role

of each invited party. Roles are limited to:

- Data capture—capture of data and data upload
- Data view—view of reports and read-only access to view the data
- **Administrator**—works as though they are logged in under the primary user account. They can do anything the primary user can do on the account, except modify the user permissions linked to the primary account.

Those who have been invited by the primary user and who opened an account from the invitation email will only see profile options for the primary user. For a team working with one organization, this is the recommended approach to creating linked accounts.

If a user has already created an account and needs to be linked to another account, their invitation email will enable them to keep their own account while also collaborating with the user who invited them. In this situation, the invited individual will need to change the profile setting option offered throughout the system to the other user's account in order to collaborate on shared data.

#### 3. Collect information for completing the configuration process.

To conduct the system configuration, you will need to have some information prepared ahead of time. Specifically, the system requires that you create lists for different categories of information that will be used to structure and unify the data collection process. These lists will include the following:

- All regional offices (these are regional administrative offices that might oversee or manage SDPs in a specific geographic area)
- All facilities/SDPs (these are offices that deliver services to clients)
- Employee types. You will need to list all of the different types of employees at the organization, including those involved in direct service provision ("direct employees") and those responsible for administrative roles not involved in direct service ("indirect employees").
- Groupings for the types of services provided at the organization. Examples include family planning, counseling, and HIV services.
- Specific services delivered to the clients across all of the facilities. If there is variation in the services delivered, make sure the list you create accounts for the services at every site type. For example, if the organization has both clinical sites and youth education centers, the list compiled should include all of the services at each of these sites. When individual sites do data collection, they can skip services that are not provided at their site, but they will not be able to add new services, making the comprehensiveness of the initial list very important.
- Similar to the services list, create a list of the commodities that are consumed at sites in the process of delivering health services. Once again, this list cannot be altered very easily after the capture tools have been distributed for data collection, so be sure to include as many commodities on the list as possible. There is a standard list of commodities provided in the system that you can use or alter. This list does not include the volume of a commodity but instead implies the base unit. For example, if an organization orders condoms in packages of 1,000, the standard list refers to an individual condom, not the package of condoms. When making an organization-specific list, it will be important to decide whether these volume/packaging units should be included, as this will affect the unit costs entered during data collection.

#### HINTS:

- If there are different types of SDPs, you need to have lists that account for all potential employee, services, or commodity options. Remember that once data collection starts, adding new list items will be challenging.
- There are standard lists provided in the system. It may be better to select from or alter this list rather than make an entirely new list.
- You need to be able to categorize both services and commodities into groupings (e.g., an IUD insertion is a family planning service, while a prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) consultation is an HIV service. Suggested groupings are provided, but be prepared for this if you are creating your lists entirely from scratch in the system.

#### 4. Complete configuration by area.

Once you have compiled the lists detailed in the last section, the following instructions will walk you through how to enter this information in the system.

You will need to use the **List Management** portion of the system, which is found in the Administration tab, under Configuration.



#### A. Area/Regional Office

Under the Area Offices section, you can enter the regional office and headquarter offices list information. The Area Office code (Column 1) is a shortened version of the full area office name (Column 2). Use the Add button to create new entries. You must select Submit Changes for any new information to be stored.

C IIIIII /F	SAID HE AMERICAN PEOPLE		Reproc Re	luctive Health Co porting System	ost	MEAS	
Home Report B	uilder Static Reports -	Graphs <del>-</del>	Administration -	Data Capture -		US Dollar	•
Area Offices Select profile: scena	ario@mailinator.com v						
Area Office Code	Area Office Name						
A1 A2	Area Office 2						
RHQ	Regional HQ						
Add Submit Changes							

#### B. Facility/SDP Setup

This section allows you to enter site names and link these sites to the area where they exist. To create a new facility, use the Add button and type in the facility name. Then use the Area Office drop-down menu to link each site to the region where it is located. You should create an entry for every single site that administers any type of services. If an area office delivers services, create an entry for that site.

	SAID E AMERICAN PEOPLE		ductive Health Cost porting System		SURE
Home Report Bui	lder Static Reports - Graph	Administration +	Data Capture -	US Dollar	•
Facility/SDP Set	ID.				
	io@mailinator.com				
Name: Eastern Facility	Area Office	Area Office 1 •	×		
Name: Northern Facili	y Area Office	Area Office 1 *	×		
Name: Southern Facili	ty Area Office	Area Office 2	×		
Name: Western Facilit	/ Area Office	Regional HQ Area Office 2 ¥	×		
Add					
Submit Changes					
Submit Changes					

#### C. Employee Setup

To create the list of organization employees, click on Employee setup and select Add to create a new entry. **For each employee type, you must identify whether the role is directly involved in service delivery** ("Direct") or uninvolved in providing services ("Indirect"). To save an entry and create another new entry, select Add & Continue. To complete and save a new entry and return to the Employee type page, select Add & Close.

To edit entries, go to the list of existing employee types, click on the entry, and select "Edit."

					Evalue	atior
Home Report Builder Static Re	Title:	Driver	~		US Dollar	•
	Employee Type:	Please Select	•			
Employees		InDirect Direct				
Select profile: scenario@mailinator.co		Close Add & Close	Add & Continue			
Add Edit Delete				Search:		
Title			Employee Type			
Medical Doctor			Direct			
Anesthetist			Direct			

#### D. Service Types

Before creating the service list, you must specify the categories for the services, referred to as Service Types. Similar to the configuration for employee type, you can Add new records and Edit existing records. Each service type created should default to Direct, so users should ignore this option.

	Edit Record			×		MEAS	
Home Report Builder Static Re	Description:	FP Service				US Dollar	•
Service Types	Service Type:	InDirect InDirect Direct		•			
Select profile: scenario@mailinator.co			Close	Save Changes			
Add Edit Delete					Search:		
Description			Service 1	Гуре			

Additionally, there will be a service type called Indirect Time that is set up when a new user account is created. This category is used to house data captured on the indirect time of service providers and should be left alone.

12				Logged in as	scenario@maili	nator.com   Log	jout   Invite
	Edit Record			×		MEAS	
FROM THE AMERICAN PEO						Evaluc	ation
Home Report Builder Static R	Description:	Indirect Time				US Dollar	•
Select profile: scenario@mailinator.co	Service Type:	Direct		Y			
Add Edit Delete			Close	ave Changes	earch:		
Description			- Service type				
Counselling Service			Direct				

#### E. Services

Once the service type categories are established, you will create the full services list, linking each service to a category to help with later analysis. There is a standard list that can be used. You can select all or a portion of the services on the standardized list and then edit entries as desired. The standardized list comes linked to a standard list of service types that can be reassigned using the edit function. When creating a new record, you must use the Add button, type in the service title, and then link it to a type. You can then save by clicking Add & Close or Add & Continue.

	Record		× MEAS Evalua	
Home Report Builder Static Re	Name:	IUD Insertion	US Dollar	•
Services	Туре:	Please Select Counselling Service FP Service	▼ t profile: scenario@mailinator.c	om
Add Edit Delete Standard Serv		Gynecological Service HIV Service Indirect Time Laboratory Service/Test	earch:	
Name		Maternal Health Service Other Medical Diagnosis		
ART Adherence Counselling		Other Service Other SRH Service		
Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Consultation		Referral Service STI Service/Medication		

	Record		×	MEASURE Evaluation
Home Report Builder Static Re	Name:	ART Adherence Counselling		US Dollar •
	Туре:	Please Select	•	
Services		Counselling Service FP Service	t profile:	scenario@mailinator.com *
Add Edit Delete Standard Serv		Gynecological Service HIV Service Indirect Time	earch:	
Name		Laboratory Service/Test Maternal Health Service		*
ART Adherence Counselling		Other Medical Diagnosis     Other Service     Other SRH Service		
Type Counselling Service		Referral Service STI Service/Medication		
Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Consultation				
Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Follow Up				
BTL Consultation				
BTL Follow Up				
BTL Minilaparotomy Procedure				
Emergency Contraception Follow Up Consul	tation			

#### F. Commodities

Commodities function almost identically to the service configuration steps, except that you need to **select** whether a commodity is directly related to a service or if it is an indirect commodity whose cost is not able to be attributed to a single service. The images below show how you can add a new record and an image of the option to use the Standard Commodities list.

	Add Record			×		MEAS	
Home Report Builder Static Re	Description:	Condom, male		~		US Dollar	•
Select profile: scenario@mailinator.com	Commodity Type:	Please Select InDirect Direct		*			
Add Edit Delete Standard Com		Close	Add & Close	Add & Continue	earch:		
ARVs: Lamivudine 150mg, tablet							
Antiseptic							
Apron, surgical, rubber, washable							
Condom, Female							
Condom, Male							
O Cotton wool, 500g, roll, non-sterile							
Gauze, roll							

FROM THE AMERICAN PEOPLE		tive Health Cost ting System		<b>MEASURE</b> Evaluation
Home Report Builder Static Reports - Gra	phs - Administration - Dat	ta Capture <del>-</del>		US Dollar 🔹
Select profile: scenario@mailinator.com •				
Search				
☑ Adhesive bandage, wound plaster, waterproof				
Adrenaline 0.1% Inj. / Epinephrine				
Airway, Guedel				
Alcohol 70% (1L)				
Amniohook, plastic, sterile, single use	Annual Contraction of	*		
	Select All Unselect All	Add Selected		
Add Edit Delete Standard Commodities			Search:	
Description				
Description				
ARVs: Lamivudine 150mg, tablet				
Antiseptic				
Apron, surgical, rubber, washable				

#### G. Capital Equipment Types

In the capital equipment section, the user will enter categories that can be used to group capital items. The user also specifies the estimated lifetime in years that the item is expected to last—the number of years specified will then be used to discount the cost of that item over time. The following are examples:

- Vehicle: 7 years
- Computer: 4 years
- Furniture: 10 years
- Miscellaneous equipment: 5 years
- Building: 15 years
- Medical equipment: 4 years

	Add Record	×	MEASURE Evaluation
Home Report Builder Static Re	Description:	Description	US Dollar +
Capital Equipment Types	Estimated Lifetime(years):	Estimated Lifetime(years)	
Select profile: scenario@mailinator.co		Close Add & Close Add & Continue	
Add Edit Delete		Jearc	h:
Description		Estimated Lifetime(years)	
Vehicle		7	
Computer		4	
Furniture		10	
Furniture Misc. Equipment		10 5	
Misc. Equipment		5	

#### H. Recurring Costs

The last category that requires configuration is recurrent costs. Similar to the other categories, you can add new records and edit existing records, as needed. These categories do not need to be as specific as the earlier sections. We suggest the following list:

- Building/office rent
- Building renovation/maintenance
- Cleaning materials
- Electric utility
- Equipment/furniture maintenance
- Internet utility
- Office supplies
- Other recurrent cost
- Petrol and oil
- Photocopy/printing/publication materials
- Telephone utility
- Vehicle maintenance
- Vehicle rent
- Waste management utility

	Add Record				×		MEAS Evalue	
Home Report Builder Static Re	Description:	Description					US Dollar	•
Add Edit Delete			Close	Add & Close	Add & Continue	earch:		- •
Description								
Building/Office Rent								
Building Renovation/Maintenance								
Cleaning Materials								
Electric Utility								
Equipment/Furniture Maintenance								
Internet Utility								
Office Supplies								
Other Recurrent Cost								
Petrol & Oil								

#### 5. Enter appropriate information to customize defaults.

#### A. Service Commodity Management

This section allows you to customize which direct commodities are linked to specific services. Select the direct commodity from the first drop-down menu and then assign that commodity to a service. **The system** allows the user to assign the cost of a commodity to multiple services—but remember that commodities split across a large number of services may be best categorized as indirect commodities.

FROM THE AMERICAN PEOF		× MEASUR
Commodity:	ARVs: Lamivudine 150mg, tablet	US Dollar +
Service:	Please Select *	
Select profile: scenario@mailinator.co	Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Consultation Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Follow Up ART Adherence Counselling BTL Consultation BTL Follow Up	•
Add Edit Delete Commodity	BTL Minilaparotomy Procedure Emergency Contraception Follow Up Consultation Emergency Contraception Initial Consultation Family Planning Counselling	Search:
ARVs: Lamivudine 150mg, tablet	<ul> <li>Female Condom Follow Up Consultation</li> <li>Female Condom Initial Consultation</li> <li>HIV Partner Test &amp; Notification</li> </ul>	altation
Condom, Female	HIV Partner test & Notification HIV Positive Pregnant Mother Care and Support/Follow Up HIV/ RAPID Test	n
Condom, Male	Indirect Service Malaria	
HIV, Rapid Test	Male Condom Initial Consultation Male Condom Resupply /Follow Up	
Levonorgestrel 1.5 mg, 1 tablet (Emergency Contraceptive)	PMTCT Prophylaxis Service STI Counselling	onsultation
Malaria test	Malaria	

#### B. Employee Labor Rate

This section allows you to associate each employee type with an average salary amount. It is important that you add a salary for every employee type option so that the calculations in the system can be done correctly. Similar to previous sections, you add a new record, select an employee type from the drop-down menu, and then enter the annual salary amount.

		×	MEASUR Evaluation
Home Report Builder Static I	Employee:	Clinical/Public Nurse	US Dollar •
	Annual Salary:	Annual Salary	
Employee Salaries			
10017 -			
Year: 2017  Select profile: scenario@mailinator.c	.o.	Close Add & Close Add & Continue	
		Close Add & Close Add & Continue	
Select profile: scenario@mailinator.c			
Select profile: scenario@mailinator.c		Search:	ő
Select profile: scenario@mailinator.c Add Edit Delete Employee		Search:	ð
Select profile: scenario@mailinator.c Add Edit Detete Employee Medical Doctor		Search: Search:	ó
Select profile: scenario@mailinator.c Add Edit Deleto Employee Medical Doctor Medical Assistant		Search: Annual Salary \$131375 \$30000	6
# 4.2. Data Capture: Site-Level Costs

After customizing the system, this stage describes how to collect the expenditures at sampled SDPs, regional/area offices, and headquarters administrative offices for the reporting period.

Information collected:

- 1. Capital item counts, purchase dates, and costs at all sites
- 2. Service delivery counts at SDPs
- 3. Recurrent expenses at all sites
- 4. Labor (direct and indirect staff presence) at all sites
- 5. Training expenses at all sites
- 6. Commodity counts and costs at SDPs

### Process summary:

- 1. Export three customized data capture forms
  - A. Capture Form: Headquarters
  - B. Capture Form: Area Offices
  - C. Capture Form: SDPs
- 2. Distribute data capture forms according to the previously determined data collection plan.
- 3. Use data capture forms to collect data from administrative and service delivery locations.
  - A. Menu
  - B. Capital Costs (Headquarters, Area Offices, SDP forms)
  - C. Service Delivery (SDP form only)
  - D. Recurrent Costs (Headquarters, Area Offices, SDP forms)
  - E. Labor (Headquarters, Area Offices, SDP forms)
  - F. Training (Headquarters, Area Offices, SDP forms)
  - G. Commodities (SDP form only)
- 4. Upload complete Capture Forms and edit uploaded data.

## Things to remember:

- 1. All expenses recorded in the tool should be **annual.** Remember that the system is intended to help you collect and compile costs that have **already** been incurred.
- 2. Administrative/headquarters sites should only record information for capital, recurrent, labor, and training expenses, while SDPs will need to report information in every category.
- 3. All users entering information in the Capture Forms must have a clear understanding of how to input prices and units for communities so that data are consistently collected across the organization. See the HINTS below in the Commodities data entry section.

# Step-by-Step Details of the Site-Level Data Capture Process

## 1. Export three customized data capture forms.

Once configuration is complete, you will download the data capture forms from the Excel Templates option in the Data Capture section of the system.



There are three forms you will use to capture site-level data:

# A. Capture Form: Headquarters

This form will be used to capture the costs associated with the headquarters office. The form will require information on capital costs, recurrent costs, labor, and training.

# B. Capture Form: Area Offices

This form is intended for regional offices (also called area offices) responsible for oversight or management of a specific, geographic subset of SDPs. If an area office is both administrative and provides services, staff will need to complete an Area Office AND an SDP capture form (recording only those costs specific to management of the region in the area office form). Identical to the Headquarters capture form, this file also collects information on capital costs, recurrent costs, labor, and training.

# C. Capture Form: SDPs

This form is intended to be completed for every site delivering services. It collects information on capital costs, recurrent costs, labor, services, commodities, and training.

Select the template type you want to download from the menu. The download function may take some time to process. **Do not click the download button multiple times.** 



# When downloading the templates, any alterations made to the Configuration and List Management information will appear immediately in the capture forms available for download.

*For example:* You fully customize the system and download the SDP form in July. One month later, in August, you return to add a new area office in the List Management portion of the Configuration option. The added location will now be present in the SDP form when you download it from the website. The form from July will no longer be available for download unless you go in and reverse the configuration changes made in August. If you have already started entering data in the downloaded form from July, the changes made in August will only be visible in a newly downloaded file, not in the one you have been using since July.

# 2. Distribute data capture forms according to the previously determined data collection plan.

As specified in <u>Section 3.3</u>, each organization will need to develop an individual data collection plan that details their approach to sampling sites (if needed) and any potential training of staff on how to use the data capture forms.

# 3. Use data capture forms to collect data from administrative and service delivery locations.

## A. Menu Tab



Each of the capture forms has an instructions page and menu tab. You must complete the information in the menu tab, entering the site name and region where the site is located.

### **HINTS:**

- Completed by Headquarters, Area Offices, and all SDPs
- Once this information has been specified, use the "Save File" button to save the document with a preformatted title specific to the selected menu information. For example, the Save File function for the above image will auto-populate the following name using the Region and Service Delivery Point Name: "Area Office 1-Test Facility 1.xlsm."

# B. Capital Costs (Headquarters, Area Offices, SDP Forms)

K	-	-	-	CAPITAL COSTS	-			
<ul> <li>Medica</li> <li>Furnitur</li> <li>Vehicle</li> <li>Comput</li> <li>Misc. Et</li> </ul>	s: Capital costs are considered investment expenses the Equipment (i.e. Hematorrit centrifuge, Pima CDA Ana re (i.e. hospital beds, operating tables, desks) (ambulances or other vehicles used for program relate rer (i.e. laptops/computers, one-time purchase softwara quipment (i.e. printer/photocogy machines, projectors, ş (i.e. purchased buildings or land)	lyzer, operating lamps, or diag d transport) e)		ore than USD \$500. Thi	i list includes:			
	Description	Equipment Type	Qty	Unit Price	Date of purchase (DD-MMM-YYYY)	Estimated Life in Years	Cost per Year	Total Capital Cost
001								0.00

All three capture forms have a tab for collecting capital costs. To enter information in this table, start with a description of the item, followed by equipment category (e.g., vehicle, medical equipment). Then enter the quantity of that item, the unit price (original purchase price of the item or the market value upon receipt of the item if it was donated), and the date of purchase/receipt.

### **HINTS:**

- Completed by Headquarters, Area Offices, and all SDPs
- If you have multiple items of the same type (e.g., laptops), but not all were purchased the same year or at the same price, you should enter them on separate lines. (For example, you have five laptops in total, but three were purchased in 2015 for \$800 and two in 2016 for \$450. You should use two lines to report these items.)
- Please note that new lines will appear once every open box from the previous line has been completed.

# C. Service Delivery (SDP Form Only)

$\boldsymbol{<}$	SERVICE DELIVERY	
offered	ons: This section provides information about in d by type of service annually. Select the correct me annual number of times the service was pro- the SDP.	t service and then
#	Service	Annual Total
001	ART Adherence Counselling	0
002	HIV Testing & Counselling	0

The Service Delivery tab will come prepopulated with a list of the services specified during the configuration stage. **Every SDP will need to enter the total number of times annually that a given service has been provided.** 

### **HINTS:**

- Completed only by the SDPs
- If the organization tracks service delivery by looking at new and recurring patients, this information must be combined. Prior to combining, make sure that the categories for new and recurring **visits are mutually exclusive and, therefore, represent separate visits.**
- These are not beneficiary counts, so the same person can come for multiple service visits or even the same service more than once.

# D. Recurrent Costs (Headquarters, Area Offices, SDP Forms)

	RECURRENT COST	S				
costs at	ns: This section captures the information the location annually. Please use the dro ne recurrent cost type and then enter the	ор	down menu to			
#	Description	Annual Total				
001		Ŧ				
	Building Renovation/Maintenance Building/Office Rent Cleaning Materials Electric Utility Equipment/Furniture Maintenance Internet Utility	111 >				

This section captures the amount spent at each site on recurrent expenses. When completing the Recurrent Costs section, select the correct category descriptor and then enter the **annual total** for all of the expenses that fall within that category that have been incurred at that site.

## HINTS:

• Completed by Headquarters, Area Offices, and all SDPs

Office Supplies Other Recurrent Cost

• These categories are larger groupings of specific expenses. For example, Building/Office Rent may be composed of 12 monthly payments for space rental, while Office Supplies may be ordered less frequently, on an as-needed basis. You must aggregate the costs for each line yourself before entering that information in the system.

# E. Labor (Headquarters, Area Offices, SDP Forms)

	Labour					
	Directions: Please enter the annual number of en	mployees that were				
employe	ed at the SDP during the reporting period.					
#	# Title M					
001	Ambulance Driver	0.00				
002	Anesthetist	0.00				
003	Clinic Manager	0.00				
004	Clinical Services Coordinator	0.00				
005	Clinical/Public Nurse	0.00				
006	Communications Officer	0.00				
007	Community Counselor	0.00				
008	Customer Service & Data Clerk	0.00				

This section will be pre-populated with all of the employees listed during the configuration process. Each SDP or administrative site will need to list number of staff employed during the reporting period of interest.

### **HINTS:**

- Completed by Headquarters, Area Offices, and all SDPs
- If there are part-time staff or employees who were present for only a portion of the year, use decimal points to represent their partial presence. For example, if the SDP has one full-time driver, and one part-time driver who works approximately 20 hours per week, enter 1.5 in the Driver/Mechanic line.

# F. Training (Headquarters, Area Offices, SDP Forms)

	Training / SBC	
past cale	<b>Directions:</b> If trainings with staff hav ndar year, please provide the total a ing these trainings for this specific s	annual expenditure
#	Description	Annual Total
001		

If there have been site-specific trainings, of which the cost was incurred at the site level, this information can be captured in this section of the Capture Form. Enter a brief description, e.g., "Trained 25 Peer Educators on RP & FP," followed by the total amount spent on that activity.

### **HINTS:**

- Similar to the above section on recurrent costs, multiple expenses might be added together under one line; the costs of travel reimbursement, food, venue, and accommodation may be added under one line.
- Completed by Headquarters, Area Offices, and all SDPs.

• Most of the training costs will hosted by the Headquarters and Area Offices, so even if SDP staff received trainings hosted at these locations, these trainings should not be listed for individual SDPs unless that site was responsible for incurring specific costs for the training.

	соммор		STS		
Dir	ections: Please enter the quantities and unit prices annually commodity is used in the re			e SDP. Direct v	vill specify that the
#	Commodities	Direct	Quantity	Unit Price	Total Annual Cost
001	Adhesive bandage, wound plaster, waterproof	FALSE			0.00
002	Adrenaline 0.1% Inj. / Epinephrine	FALSE			0.00
003	Airway, Guedel	FALSE			0.00
004	Alcohol 70% (1L)	FALSE			0.00
005	Amniohook, plastic, sterile, single use	FALSE			0.00
006	Amoxicillin trihydrate 250mg, capsule	FALSE			0.00
007	Amoxicillin trihydrate 500mg, capsule	FALSE			0.00
008	Amoxicillin trihydrate suspension 250mg/5ml in 100ml	FALSE			0.00
009	Ampicillin sodium 1000mg, powder for injection	FALSE			0.00
010	Ampicillin sodium 500mg powder for injection in 1	FALSE			0.00

# G. Commodities (SDP Form Only)

The Commodities section of the SDP Capture Form will come prepopulated with the commodity list created during the configuration process. For each SDP, specify the quantity and unit price for all commodities used at that site during the reporting period. Please ignore the information in the Direct column, as this information should already have been set up during configuration.

### **HINTS:**

- Commodity items will vary in volume size and packaging amount. Those entering the unit price must make sure to properly account for the quantity. Ideally, you should record commodities using a unit cost, or the cost for a single unit of an item. For example, if the commodity list says "condoms, male" and this refers to individual condoms, procurement records listing 200 boxes of 1,000 male condoms, costing \$200 each, should be recorded as 200,000 male condoms at \$0.20 each. This information could also be listed as 200 male condoms at \$200 apiece. Regardless of the format used, it important that the quantity and the price be listed in a consistent fashion.
- Completed only by the SDPs.

# 4. Upload complete Capture Forms and edit uploaded data.

Once a Capture File is completed and data are entered into the appropriate sections, the file is ready to be uploaded to the system. Only users with the Data Capture and Administrator capabilities will be authorized to upload files.

Data Capture -	
SDP Costs > Area Office Costs > Head Office Costs >	
Excel Templates >	Download Template Upload Template

To upload, go to the Data Capture section titled Excel Templates and click Upload Template. For invited users, the profile option should default to the primary user; if it does not, be sure to specify the correct profile account. Then select the type of template being uploaded (Headquarters, Area Office, or SDP) and the related file.

				Reproductive Health Cost Reporting System					
Home	Report Builder	Static Reports -	Graphs +	Administration -	Data Capture -				
Select profile:	scenario@mail	inator.com •							
Template Typ	SDP Costs	٣							
Choose File N	o file chosen								
Upload File									

Once the upload is complete, the system will notify you that the upload was successful. To view uploaded information, go to the Data Capture section. Uploaded information will be grouped by type of cost for each of the different site/capture form types. You must select the appropriate user profile, site information, and reporting period (listed as specific years) to see the associated information. To see all of the information from one capture file, you will need to navigate through each cost category separately.



You have two options for editing information that has been uploaded but needs to be changed:

- 1. You can edit the Capture Files and re-upload them to the system. Any changes that have been made will be overwritten.
- 2. You can edit specific lines in the RHCRS in the Data Capture section. The screenshot below shows the information for a specific SDP and reporting period. To edit a specific line, click on the line of interest. When the line turns gray, you will be able to select the edit or delete options listed below the reporting period. You can then edit any of the information listed on that line, and the date of the update and user associated with that update will be recorded in the last two columns.

Capital							
Select profile: scenar	io@mailinator.com						
SDP: Eastern Facility	*						
Year: 2017 •							
Add Edit Delete						Search:	
Description   E	quipment Type	Quantity	Unit Price	Date Of Purchase	Total Cost	Last Updated Date	Last Updated By
Centrifuge Me	dical equipment	1	\$1200	01-02-2015	\$1200		
<ul> <li>Laptop</li> <li>Control</li> </ul>	mputer	1	\$1000	07-05-2014	\$1000		

# 4.3. Data Capture: Time and Labor Study

The Time and Labor study involves surveying employees engaged in direct service to assess how much time is spent delivering services. This section outlines the process for collecting this type of data.

Information collected:

- 1. Time in minutes that different types of direct employees spend delivering each service
- 2. Time in minutes that different types of direct employees spend without patients each day

Process summary:

- 1. Export the customized Time and Labor Capture Form.
- 2. Distribute the Capture form to staff according to the previously determined data collection plan.
- 3. Use the capture form to survey service providers on the amount of time they spend delivering specific services.
- 4. Upload the complete Capture forms.
- 5. View and edit uploaded data in the Employee Service Time section.

Things to remember:

- Unlike the site-level capture forms, the Time and Labor Capture Form does not need to be collected for every site. You can capture a maximum of 15 provider interviews on one form, and multiple forms can be uploaded for each site. This allows multiple people to conduct interviews with staff at a single site. Each independent upload is then added to the system without overwriting prior information from the same site. Instead, the new information is added to the averages being calculated for each provider type.
- 2. Time and Labor forms can be uploaded as you go. Forms with distinct information should only be uploaded once. Edits or corrections to entries can be made in the RHCRS online platform.

# Step-by-Step Details of the Time and Labor Data Capture Process

### 1. Export the customized Time and Labor Capture Form.

This process is identical to the process used for the other capture forms. In the Data Capture section, select Excel Template Download. On the Template Download page, select the Time and Labor template from the menu. Make sure that the primary user's account is selected. The download function may take some time to process; do not click the download button multiple times.



Remember when downloading the templates that any alterations made to the Configuration and List Management information will appear immediately in the capture forms available for download.

*For example:* You fully customize the system and download the SDP form in July. One month later, you return to add a new staff type in the List Management portion of the Configuration option. The added staff type will now be present in the Time and Labor capture form when you download it from the website. The form from July will no longer be available for download unless you go in and reverse the configuration changes made in August.

#### 2. Distribute the capture form according to the previously determined data collection plan.

As specified in <u>Section 3.3</u>, each organization will need to develop an individual data collection plan that details their approach to sampling staff for the time and labor survey and any potential training of staff on how to use the data capture form. The Time and Labor Form will be used to survey service providers on the amount of time they spend delivering specific services.

3. Use the capture form to survey service providers on the amount of time they spend delivering specific services.

A. Interviewers should first specify the SDP name where the interviews are going to be conducted. They also need to specify the reporting year.

you are conducting interviews. Please sa and time interviews. See the full guidance	nenu below to specify the service delivery point where ve a new file for every SDP at which you conduct labor ce document for specific details about how to sample it, and other important information necessary for action process.
Service Delivery Point Name: Reporting Period:	2017 -

# B. Interviewers should begin by telling the provider briefly about the reason for the interview:

"We are surveying service providers so that we can better assess how much our organization spends on individual services. Information about the time you spend delivering services will help us to make more accurate calculations. This interview should take no more than 30 minutes. Your name and personal information will not be included in the data collected, only your position information and the answers you provide."

C. Ascertain consent: "Do you agree to participate in the interview?"

- D. In the capture form, each numbered column represents a single interview, so information is entered down. Begin by entering the following information:
- Interview date
- Initials of the interviewer
- Staff category of person you are interviewing

					La	bor Time	e Study									
Directions: To fill out this form, star amount of time, in hours, each er client per service. The categorie counselor will not spend time e document for specific details	nployee spends wit as for each service conducting lab test	th patients is listed to t s), you may	each day. N he right of skip these	ou will th each serv services d	en, in inter ice. If an ei luring the ir	view form, mployee is nterview. F	go down not involv or all serv	the list of ved in a spe ices an em	services ar ecific type ployee doe	nd ask each of services es not prov	h clinicians s (ie. a lab vide, be su	the amou technician re to enter	will not sp a zero. Pl	e, in minut bend time o ease see th	es, they sp ounselling ne full guid	and a ance
	Interview #	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
	Interview Date	9/14/2017	9/14/2017	9/15/2017	9/15/2017											
	Interviewer Initials	SSF	SSF	SSF	SSF											
	Type of Staff	Medical Doctor	Clinical/Public Nurse	Health/Peer Educator	Lab Technician											
How many <u>minutes</u> per day do you	spend <b>not</b> with															
patients? How many <u>minutes</u> do you spend   following services?	providing the	50	30	180	30		Self-repo	orted Time	Spent per	Service in	Minutes					
	Counselling															
1 ART Adherence Counselling	Service	10	30	40	0											
2 HIV Testing & Counselling	HIV Service	15	20	40	0											

# E. Use the Capture Form to guide the rest of the interview:

First, ask the provider, "How many **minutes** per day do you spend **not** with patients?" Enter the response in the yellow box below where you entered the type of staff information.

#### **HINTS:**

- If the individual reports a lot of variation, ask them to estimate an average amount of time.
- For laboratory staff who do not directly spend time with patients, you may alter the question slightly and ask, "How many minutes per day do you spend not running lab tests (e.g., doing paperwork or other work)?"

Second, you will go line-by-line through the list of services and for each service ask, "How many minutes do you spending providing [service X] to each client?" Enter each response in the column associated with the current interview.

### **HINTS:**

Once again, you are asking for **an average number of minutes**, so if someone reports a lot of variation in the time it takes them to provide a service like family planning counseling, push them to estimate an average number of minutes.

- If an interviewee never provides a specific type of service, enter zero.
- The services are grouped by type. If a specific provider is never involved in specific services (e.g., a laboratory technician is never involved in any type of counseling service, or a peer educator is never involved in HIV testing services), the interviewer may choose to skip those service types that are obviously unrelated to a person's role. If you are uncertain about whether or not a provider is involved in certain types of services, always ask. As stated above, if an interviewee never provides a service, enter zero.

### 4. Upload the completed data capture forms.

This process is identical to the process described for the other capture forms described above. Go to the Data Capture section labeled Excel Templates and click on Upload Template.

### 5. View and edit uploaded data in the Employee Service Time section.

Once Time and Labor capture form(s) have been uploaded, you can go to the Employee Service Time option listed under Administration --> Configuration. Once on this page, you will specify the reporting year of interest. You then have two tabs for viewing related time and labor data.

### **Summary Option:**

The summary displays the system's calculations for the average time each employee type spends per service.

<ul> <li>C D palladiumza.iqstrategy.net:6140/Configuration/Emp</li> </ul>				옥 ☆
ps 🕒 CTM 😭 Dental 🦏 Vision 🗅 Deltek 🚳 WB LEARNING	👾 MIS 📑 SP Palladium 🚺 On		I 🕒 HR Compass 📙 Travel 🗗 .ogged in as scenario@mailir	
		L	ogged in as scenario@maili	Logour   Inv
	Reproc	luctive Health Cost		<u>m</u>
		porting System		MEASURE
HROM THE AMERICAN PEOPLE	T(C	porting Oystern		Evaluation
Home Report Builder Static Reports - G	raphs - Administration -	Data Capture -		US Dollar *
Employee Service Time				
Select profile: scenario@mailinator.com v				
Year: 2017 *				
Summary Capture Employee Service Time				
Service(All SDPs)		Employee	Average Time in M	Inutes
Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Consultation		Medical Doctor	25	
Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Follow Up		Medical Doctor	10	
ART Adherence Counselling		Community Counselor	5	
ART Adherence Counselling		Nurse Practitioner	20	
		Medical Doctor	20	
BTL Consultation		inconcer proton		

### **Capture Employee Service Time Option:**

The capture page shows the minutes spent per service as it was recorded and uploaded for every provider interview. The data are sorted by SDP, so you will need to select the SDP for which you wish to view data. Similar to the above data edit option available in the other data capture forms, you can also select an entry to edit the information or delete the entry entirely.

mployee Service Time		
ect profile: scenario@mailinator.com •		
ar: 2017 🔻		
Summary Capture Employee Service Time		
SDP: Northern Facility •		
Add Edit Detete	s	earch:
Service	≑ Employee	Minutes
HIV/ RAPID Test	Lab Technician	2
ART Adherence Counselling	Community Counselor	5
BTL Follow Up	Medical Doctor	5
Emergency Contraception Follow Up Consultation	Nurse Practitioner	5
Male Condom Resupply /Follow Up	Community Counselor	5
Vasectomy Procedure	Anesthetist	5
HIV Positive Pregnant Mother Care and Support/Follow Up	Medical Doctor	5
PMTCT Prophylaxis Service	Medical Doctor	5
Voluntary Counselling and Testing (VCT) Test	Nurse Practitioner	5
Voluntary Counselling and Testing (VCT) Test	Lab Technician	5

# 4.4. Data Review and Analysis

The final component of the RHCRS is using the database and dashboard to review, analyze, and understand the data that have been collected.

# Data presentation and analysis

The RHCRS is ultimately designed to estimate the cost of providing a service to a client on an annual basis. Once the captured data are uploaded to the RHCRS website, the system automatically calculates cost-per-service-per-client at a number of different levels. At the same time, you can review the data that are uploaded in the system to check for errors.

There are three categories of reports the system can produce:

- 1. Raw reports of the data collected, under Report Builder
- 2. Reports of the cost per service, under Static Reports
- 3. Graphs and visualizations of the information compiled in the reports, under Graphs

### Things to remember:

- 1. The system will begin calculating results immediately. It is up to you to ensure that the necessary information is entered. For example, there must be an annual salary entered for every employee type that is reported present anywhere across the organization, or the system will calculate using a zero value for that employee.
- 2. The raw reports allow you to download Excel documents with the data. Otherwise, the information contained in this section should be identical to information in the Data Capture section.

### Step-by-Step Details of Data Review and Analysis

There are aspects of RHCRS that have been developed to help you view and understand the final calculations prepared by the system. This section provides additional detail on how to access raw data exports to Excel, how to view five types of reports that break down cost per service calculations in various ways, and how to explore and view three graphic presentations of the data.

## 1. Report Builder

The first RHCRS review options are the raw reports presented under Report Builder. In this section, you can view raw reports of the data uploaded and edited in the system, using the cost element groupings under which the information was collected.

					Select Year: 2017 •	
					Select profile: scenario1@	@mailinator.com 🔹
Level: SDP	T					
Recurring		Capital			Cabour	
Services		Commodities			Training	
SDP:	Test Facility 1	•				
Capital Type	All selected (6)	•				
		F	Run Report			
SDP	Description	Equipment Type	Quantity	Unit Price	Estimated Life of Capital	
Test Facility 1	Ambulance	Vehicle	1	\$6,000.00	7	
Total Cost:			1	\$6,000.00		
						Fund To Fun
						Export To E

## 2. Static Reports

The second analysis tool in the RHCRS are the results reports, which present various was of viewing the cost per service calculations made by the system. There are five reports in total. For each report, you will need to select the year and the appropriate profile prior to clicking Run Report. Every report can be downloaded to Excel to be further manipulated.

Run Report	Refresh Calculations	Calculations results are cached. To refresh the cache click "Refresh Calculations".	Select Year:	2017 •
			Select profile:	scenario@mailinator.com •

# A. Cost per Service by Region

This report shows the cost of each service by region/Area Office. Line 1 can be interpreted as "The average cost of providing an antiretroviral therapy (ART) consultation in Area Office/Region 1 is \$72.65."

Average cost by region				<b>Filter</b>
Area Office	Service	SDP Count	Total Cost	Average Cost
Area Office 1	Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Consultation	2	\$145.30	\$72.65
Area Office 1	Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Follow Up	2	\$110.72	\$55.36
Area Office 1	ART Adherence Counselling	2	\$89.66	\$44.83
Area Office 1	BTL Consultation	2	\$131.76	\$65.88
Area Office 1	BTL Follow Up	2	\$100.18	\$50.09
Area Office 1	BTL Minilaparotomy Procedure	2	\$89.66	\$44.83
Area Office 1	Emergency Contraception Follow Up Consultation	2	\$89.66	\$44.83

# B. Cost per Service by Element

This report breaks down by cost element for the cost of each service across all sites and regions. The first line can be interpreted as: "The average cost of providing an antiretroviral therapy (ART) consultation across the entire organization is \$300.62, with \$249.72 of the average cost driven by just the cost of commodities."

Average cost of service per element								<b>F</b> ilter
art	Service Count	Labour	Capital	Commodity	Recurring	Training	Overhead	Total
Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Consultation	1205	\$48.27	\$0.90	\$249.72	\$1.61	\$0.13	\$0.00	\$300.62
Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Follow Up	1115	\$32.48	\$0.90	\$211.09	\$1.61	\$0.13	\$0.00	\$246.20
ART Adherence Counselling	522	\$21.95	\$0.90	\$211.09	\$1.61	\$0.13	\$0.00	\$235.67
HIV Partner Test & Notification	613	\$43.00	\$0.90	\$211.09	\$1.61	\$0.13	\$0.00	\$256.73

# C. Cost per Service by Element for All SDPs

This report provides the same breakdown by cost element for the cost of providing each service at each SDP. You can use the filter option at the top to see specific services compared across sites. The first line can be interpreted as: "The cost of providing an antiretroviral therapy (ART) consultation at the Eastern Facility is \$89.22. This cost is driven by the cost of labor and commodities, which cost \$58.46 and \$26.78, respectively."

Average cost of se	rvice per element by SDP								<b>F</b> ilter
SDP	Service	Service Count	Labour	Capital	Commodity	Recurring	Training	Overhead	Total Cost Per Service
Eastern Facility	Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Consultation	75	\$58.46	\$1.50	\$26.78	\$2.32	\$0.16	\$0.00	\$89.22
Eastern Facility	Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Follow Up	58	\$42.67	\$1.50	\$25.28	\$2.32	\$0.16	\$0.00	\$71.93
Eastern Facility	ART Adherence Counselling	164	\$32.14	\$1.50	\$25.28	\$2.32	\$0.16	\$0.00	\$61.40
Eastern Facility	BTL Consultation	55	\$53.19	\$1.50	\$25.28	\$2.32	\$0.16	\$0.00	\$82.45
Eastern Facility	BTL Follow Up	41	\$37.40	\$1.50	\$25.28	\$2.32	\$0.16	\$0.00	\$66.66
Eastern Facility	BTL Minilaparotomy Procedure	45	\$32.14	\$1.50	\$25.28	\$2.32	\$0.16	\$0.00	\$61.40

# D. Cost per Service by SDP

This report provides the same information as the above report but without the breakdown by cost element. The first line can be interpreted as: "The cost of providing an antiretroviral therapy (ART) consultation at the Eastern Facility is \$89.22."

Average cost by SDP		<b>T</b> Filter	
SDP	Service	Service Count	Avg Cost Of Service
Eastern Facility	Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Consultation	75	\$89.22
Eastern Facility	Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Follow Up	58	\$71.93
Eastern Facility	ART Adherence Counselling	164	\$61.40
Eastern Facility	BTL Consultation	55	\$82.45
Eastern Facility	BTL Follow Up	41	\$66.66

# E. Cost per Service (All SDPs)

This report provides the same information as Report B, but without the breakdown by cost element. The first line can be interpreted as: "The average cost of providing an antiretroviral therapy (ART) consultation across the entire organization is \$300.62."

Average cost of service		<b>T</b> Filter
Service name	Service count	Total
Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Consultation	1205	\$300.62
Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Follow Up	1115	\$246.20
ART Adherence Counselling	522	\$235.67
BTL Consultation	920	\$55.14
BTL Follow Up	627	\$39.35

# 3. Graphs and Visualizations

The graphics presented by the system report the same information that is compiled in the Static Reports.

# A. Total Services Breakdown per SDP

This graphic provides a visual breakdown of the service counts provided by the organization at each facility. The user selects the year and the SDP. The system then produces pie charts displaying the counts for each service provided (hover the cursor over each section of the pie to see details).



# B. Cost of One Service Across SDPs

This option provides a bar chart displaying the cost per service for a single service across multiple SDPs. The colors on each bar represent the different cost elements. In this example, we can see that the cost of a BTL procedure is largely driven by the cost of labor, except at the Eastern Facility, where the cost of commodities appears unduly high. When you hover the cursor over each color block, the cost element and price will appear.



# C. Cost per Service at One SDP

The last graphic is a second bar chart that displays the cost for multiple services at a single SDP. Select the year, facility, and service type. You can then select specific services within that service type to compare the cost. Similar to the other graphics, you can hover the cursor over each color block to see the cost element and price.



# **5. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION**

# **5.1.** Assumptions and Limitations

While the RHCRS is useful for answering the research questions deemed a good fit in the pre-capture assessment form, it is important to remember that cost data should not be the only determining factor when making programmatic decisions. Information on cost per service and cost drivers should be balanced with a variety of other program data, including quality of the services delivered and consumer demand and choice (Janowitz & Bratt, 1994.

⋇

The system is capable of handling cost data from programs that provide family planning services, in addition to preventative or general medicine services. At this time, the system has not been tested with data for organizations providing only general medical services or other specific service groupings (such as HIV treatment), but the configuration process allows organizations to use the system flexibly and in a way that should enable nonfamily planning service-provision organizations to potentially use the system with minor adjustments.

# 5.2. System Equations

This section provides information on how the RHCRS calculates the costs of services at various levels of disaggregation.

Cost elements in this system include the following:

- 1. Direct and indirect labor costs
- 2. Direct and indirect commodity costs
- 3. Recurrent costs
- 4. Staff training and professional development
- 5. Capital costs

Recall that costs for the costing system were disaggregated into specific cost elements at the SDP, Area Office (AO), and Headquarters (HQ) levels. Figure 1 is an example of how costs are allocated for a single cost element—recurrent costs—for services. In the case of a cost element composed both of indirect and direct elements, the cost comprises direct and indirect values at the SDP level, in addition to the costs contributed by the Area Office and Headquarters.



Figure 1. Example of allocation of recurrent costs for services

1. Cost Element Calculations

#### A. Labor

Total labor cost per service

$$L_{t,s} = \sum (L_{d,s} + L_{i,s} + L_{ao,s} + L_{hq,s})$$

#### Where:

 $L_{t,s} = total \ labor \ cost \ per \ service \ (s)$   $L_{d,s} = cost \ of \ direct \ labor \ for \ clinic \ (d), service \ s$   $L_{i,s} = cost \ of \ indirect \ labor \ for \ clinic \ (i), service \ (s)$   $L_{ao,s} = indirect \ labor \ costs \ for \ an \ areo \ office \ (ao) \ per \ service \ (s)$  $L_{hq,s} = indirect \ labor \ costs \ for \ headquarters \ (hq) \ per \ service \ (s)$ 

#### Cost of direct labor per service per SDP

$$L_{d,s} = (l_{ne,c} \times t_{ne,s} \times w_{ne})$$

#### Where:

 $L_{d,s} = cost of direct labor by service for clinic (d), service (s)$  $<math>l_{ne,c} = number of staff who provided direct services in clinic (c), type (ne)$  $<math>t_{ne,s} = average time for staff type (ne) to perform service (s), in minutes$  $<math>w_{ne} = cost per minute of staff type (ne)$ 

Cost of indirect labor per service per SDP

$$L_{c,s=}\left\{\sum l_{ns,c} \times w_{n,s}\right\} \div P_c$$

#### Where:

 $L_{i,s} = cost of indirect labor for clinic (i), service (s)$   $l_{ns,c} = number of staff who provided indirect services in clinic (c), type (ns)$   $w_{ns,s} = annual salary for indirect staff (ns) at clinic (c)$  $P_c = total number of services in clinic (c)$ 

AO allocation rule for indirect labor-cost per service

$$L_{ao} = \frac{v_{ao}}{P_{ao}}$$

#### Where:

 $L_{ao,s} = indirect \ labor \ costs \ for \ an \ areo \ office \ (ao) \ per \ service \ (s)$  $v_{ao} = total \ annual \ indirect \ labor \ costs \ at \ area \ office \ (ao)$  $P_{ao,} = total \ number \ of \ services \ across \ SDPs \ in \ area \ office \ (ao)$  HQ allocation rule for indirect labor-cost per service

$$L_{hq,s} = \frac{v_{hq}}{P_{hq}}$$

### Where:

 $L_{hq,s} = indirect \ labor \ costs \ for \ headquarters \ (hq) \ per \ service \ (s)$  $v_{hq} = total \ annual \ indirect \ labor \ costs \ at \ headquarters \ (hq)$  $P_{hq} = total \ number \ of \ services \ across \ all \ SDPs \ (hq)$ 

B. Capital Costs

Total capital cost per service

$$K_{t,s} = \sum (K_{c,s} + K_{ao,s} + K_{hq,s})$$

#### Where:

 $K_{t,s} = total \ capital \ costs \ per \ service \ (s)$   $K_{c,s} = capital \ costs \ per \ service \ (s)per \ clinic \ (c)$   $K_{ao,s} = capital \ costs \ per \ service \ (s)for \ area \ office \ (ao)$  $K_{hq,s} = capital \ costs \ for \ headquarters \ (hq) \ per \ service \ (s)$ 

#### SDP allocation rule for capital costs—cost per service

$$K_{c,s} = \frac{c_c}{P_c}$$

### Where:

 $K_{c,s} = capital costs per service (s) per clinic (c)$   $c_c = total capital costs for clinic (c)$  $P_c = total number of services in clinic (c)$ 

#### AO allocation rule for capital costs-cost per service

$$K_{ao,s} = \frac{c_{ao}}{P_{ao}}$$

#### Where:

 $K_{ao,s} = capital costs per service, (s) for area office (ao)$  $<math>c_{ao} = total capital costs at area office (ao)$  $P_{ao} = total number of services in area office (ao)$  HQ allocation rule for capital costs-cost per service

$$K_{hq,s} = \frac{c_{hq}}{P_{hq}}$$

Where:

 $K_{hq,s} = capital costs for headquarters (hq) per service (s)$  $<math>c_{hq} = total icapital costs at headquarters (hq)$  $P_{hq} = total number of services across all SDPs (hq)$ 

C. Recurrent Costs

Total recurrent costs per service

$$R_{t,s} = \sum \left( R_{c,s} + R_{ao,s} + R_{hq,s} \right)$$

#### Where:

 $R_{t,s} = total recurrent costs per service (s)$   $R_{c,s} = recurrent costs per service (s)per clinic (c)$   $R_{ao,s} = recurrent costs per service (s) for area of fice (ao)$  $R_{hq,s} = recurrent costs for headquarters (hq) per service (s)$ 

#### SDP allocation rule for recurrent costs—cost per service

$$R_{c,s} = \frac{b_c}{P_c}$$

#### Where:

 $R_{c,s}$  = recurrent costs per service (s) per clinic (c)  $b_c$  = total capital costs for clinic c  $P_c$  = total number of services in clinic (c)

#### AO allocation rule for recurrent costs—cost per service

$$R_{ao,s} = \frac{b_{ao}}{P_{ao}}$$

#### Where:

 $R_{ao,s} = recurrent costs per service, (s) for area office (ao)$  $<math>b_{ao} = total capital costs at area office (ao)$  $<math>P_{ao} = total number of services (s) in area office (ao)$  HQ allocation rule for recurrent costs-cost per service

$$R_{hq,s} = \frac{b_{hq}}{P_{hq}}$$

Where:

 $R_{hq,s} = capital costs for headquarters (hq) per service (s)$  $b_{hq} = total capital costs at headquarters (hq)$  $P_{hq} = total number of services across all SDPs (hq)$ 

D. Commodities

Total commodity cost per service

$$M_{t,s} = \sum (M_{d,s} + M_{i,s})$$

Where:

 $M_{t,s} = total commodity cost per service (s)$   $M_{d,s} = cost of direct commodities for clinic (d), service (s)$  $M_{c,s} = cost of indirect commodities for clinic (c), service (s)$ 

Cost of direct commodities per service per SDP

$$M_{d,s} = \frac{a_{d,s}}{P_{c,s}}$$

Where:

 $M_{d,s} = cost of direct commodities (d) for service s$  $a_{d,s} = total cost of direct commodities (d) for service (s)$  $P_c = total number of service provided in clininc (c)$ 

### Cost of indirect commodities per service per SDP

$$M_{i,s} = \frac{a_i}{P_{s,c}}$$

#### Where:

 $M_{i,s} = cost of indirect commodities for clinic (i) per service (s)$  $<math>a_i = total cost of indirect commodities for clinic (c)$  $<math>P_c = total number of services in clinic (c)$  E. Training Costs

Total of training cost per service

$$T_{t,s} = \sum (T_{c,s} + T_{ao,s} + T_{hq,s})$$

#### Where:

 $T_{t,s} = total training costs per service (s)$   $T_{c,s} = training costs per service (s) per clinic (c)$   $T_{ao,s} = training costs per service (s) for area of fice (ao)$  $T_{hq,s} = training costs for headquarters (hq) per service (s)$ 

SDP allocation rule for training costs—cost per service

$$T_{t,s} = \sum (T_{c,s} + T_{ao,s} + T_{hq,s})$$

#### Where:

 $T_{t,s} = total training costs per service (s)$   $T_{c,s} = training costs per service (s) per clinic (c)$   $T_{ao,s} = training costs per service (s) for area of fice (ao)$  $T_{hq,s} = training costs for headquarters (hq) per service (s)$ 

#### AO allocation rule for training costs – cost per service

$$T_{ao,s} = \frac{x_{ao}}{P_{ao}}$$

### Where:

 $T_{ao,s} = training costs per service, (s) for area office (ao)$  $<math>x_{ao} = total training costs at area office (ao)$  $P_{ao} = total number of services in area office (ao)$ 

#### HQ allocation rule for training costs-cost per service

$$T_{hq,s} = \frac{x_{hq}}{P_{hq}}$$

#### Where:

 $T_{hq,s} = training costs for headquarters (hq) per service (s)$  $<math>x_{hq} = total training costs at headquarters (hq)$  $P_{hg} = total number of services across all SDPs (hq)$ 

# 2. Cost per Service Calculations

A. Cost per Service per SDP

$$CPS_{s,c} = \sum (L_{t,s} + K_{t,s} + R_{t,s} + T_{t,s} + M_{t,s})$$

#### Where:

 $CPS_{s,c} = cost \ per \ service \ for \ service \ (s) \ at \ clinic \ (c)$   $L_{t,s} = total \ labor \ cost \ per \ service \ (s)$   $K_{t,s} = total \ capital \ costs \ per \ service \ (s)$   $R_{t,s} = total \ recurrent \ costs \ per \ service \ (s)$   $T_{t,s} = total \ training \ costs \ per \ service \ (s)$  $M_{t,s} = total \ commodity \ cost \ per \ service \ (s)$ 

B. Cost per Service per Area Office

$$CPS_{s,ao} = \sum (CPS_{s,ao}) \div q_{ao}$$

### Where:

 $CPS_{s,ao} = cost per service for service (s) for area office (ao)$   $CPS_{s,ao} = cost per service for service (s) at clinics in area office (ao)$  $q_{ao} = count of clinics in area office (ao)$ 

C. Cost per Service across all SDPs

$$CPS_{s,hq} = \sum (CPS_{s,hq}) \div q_{hq}$$

### Where:

 $CPS_{s,hq} = cost per service for service (s) for all area offices (hq)$  $<math>CPS_{s,hq} = cost per service for service (s) for all area offices (hq)$  $<math>q_{hq} = count of area offices (hq)$ 

# 5.3. Glossary of Relevant Terms

### Service delivery point (SDP)

At a multisite organization, an SDP is a single site that provides healthcare services. Services can be clinical (e.g., IUD insertion) or nonclinical (e.g., contraceptive counseling).

### Area/regional office

Refers to administrative offices or areas over which an organization groups sites. Other terms might include area office, state/county/province, or geographical regions like north, south, east, and west.

### **Cost per service**

In the context of this tool, the cost per service is the average cost for an organization or SDP to provide a healthcare service one time. Cost per service incorporates the costs of the required labor, commodities and pharmaceuticals, administration, building, and equipment.

### Data capture form

An Excel spreadsheet developed specifically to help users collect different types of data needed for RHCRS. There are four capture forms: three for capturing site-level financial data and one for collecting information on the time providers spend delivering services.

### **Direct cost**

Direct costs can be linked directly to a specific healthcare service (e.g., the cost of labor for the medical staff directly responsible for inserting an IUD). For the purpose of this tool, the direct costs for labor and commodities are recorded. Related terms are:

- Direct employee (providers directly involved in providing services to patients)
- Direct commodity (commodities for which the cost can be linked to a specific service)

### Indirect cost

Indirect costs are costs for resources not attributable to a specific healthcare service but are still necessary to support such activities (e.g., overhead costs, such as the labor of nonservice-delivery staff, building rent, or utilities). Related terms are:

- Indirect employee (staff not directly involved in providing services to patients)
- Indirect commodity (commodities for which the cost cannot be linked to a specific service)

## **Capital costs**

Capital costs are equipment, furniture, or medical tools/devices that have large upfront costs and will be used for longer than a year (e.g., building, vehicle, magnetic resonance imaging machine, or computer).

### **Recurrent costs**

Recurrent costs are costs incurred in the day-to-day operations of service delivery (e.g., rent, utilities, printing).

# 5.4. References

Beecham, J. (1995). Collecting and estimating costs. In *The economic evaluation of mental health care* (pp.157–174). London, United Kingdom: Ashgate Publishing Limited.

Canadian Coordinating Office for Health Technology Assessment (CCOHTA). (1996). *A guidance document for the costing process version 1.0.* Ontario, Canada: CCOHTA. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cadth.ca/media/pdf/costing\_e.pdf</u>

Conteh, L., & Walker, D. (2004). Cost and unit cost calculations using step-down accounting. *Health Policy and Planning*, *19*(2), 127–135. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14982891</u>

de Ferranti, D. (1985). Paying for health services in developing countries: An overview. Washington, DC: The World Bank. Retrieved from <u>http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/485471468739208102/Paying-for-health-services-in-developing-countries-an-overview</u>

Dranove, D. (1996). Measuring costs. In Sloan, F. A. (Ed.), Valuing health care. Costs, benefits, and effectiveness of pharmacueticals and other medical technologies (pp. 61–75). Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press.

Elliott, R., & Payne, K. (2005). *Essentials of economic evaluation in healthcare*. London, United Kingdom: Pharmaceutical Press.

Godbole, R., & Smith, E. (2012 [updated 2014]). Crosswalk of family planning tools: A guide to costing, planning, and impact analysis tools. Washington, DC. Retrieved from <u>http://www.healthpolicyproject.com/index.</u> cfm?ID=publications&get=pubID&pubID=117

Gyldmark, M. (1995). A review of cost studies of intensive care units: Problems with the cost concept. *Critical Care Medicine, 23*(5), 964–972. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7736758</u>

Janowitz, B., & Bratt, J. (1994). *Methods for costing family planning services*. New York, NY: United Nations Population Fund. Retrieved from <u>https://www.k4health.org/sites/default/files/unpf0050.pdf</u>

Johns, B., Baltussen, R., & Hutubessy, R. (2003). Programme costs in the economic evaluation of health interventions. *Cost Effectiveness and Resource Allocation*, 1(1).

Luce, B., Manning, W., Siegel, J., & Lipscomb, J. (1996). Estimating costs in cost effectiveness analysis. In Gold, M.R., Siegel, J.E., Russell, L.B., & Weinstein, M.C. (Eds.), *Cost effectiveness in health and medicine*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

MEASURE Evaluation. (2015). *User manual: Routine data quality assessment tool.* Chapel Hill, NC: MEASURE Evaluation, University of North Carolina. Retrieved from <u>https://www.measureevaluation.org/resources/tools/health-information-systems/data-quality-assurance-tools/rdqa-guidelines-2015</u>

Moreland, S. (2011). *Methods for estimating the costs of family planning:* Report of the Expert Group Meeting on Family *Planning Costing.* Chapel Hill, NC: MEASURE Evaluation, University of North Carolina. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.measureevaluation.org/resources/publications/ws-11-29">https://www.measureevaluation.org/resources/publications/ws-11-29</a>

Oostenbrink, J., Koopmanschap, M., & Rutten, F. (2002). Standardisation of costs: The Dutch manual for costing in economic evaluations. *Pharmacoeconomics*, 20(7), 443–454. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12093300</u>

Slothuus, U. (2000). An evaluation of selected literature on the measurement of costs in health economic evaluation. Odense, Denmark: University of Southern Denmark.

United States Agency for International Development Global Health eLearning (GHeL) Center. (2011). *Economic evaluation basics* [Online course]. Retrieved from <u>https://www.globalhealthlearning.org/course/</u>economic-evaluation-basics.

Weissman, E., & Stover, J. (2011). *Estimating unit costs of family planning: Methodology review.* Glastonbury, CT: Futures Institute. In Moreland, S. (2011), pp. 22-63.

Zimmerman, J. (2003). Accounting for decision-making and control. Fourth Edition. Boston, MA: McGraw-Hill Irwin.

MEASURE Evaluation University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill 123 West Franklin Street, Suite 330 Chapel Hill, NC 27516 USA Phone: +1 919-445-9350 measure@unc.edu www.measureevaluation.org This publication was produced with the support of the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) under the terms of the MEASURE Evaluation cooperative agreement AID-OAA-L14-00004. MEASURE Evaluation is implemented by the Carolina Population Center, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in partnership with ICF International; John Snow, Inc.; Management Sciences for Health; Palladium; and Tulane University. Views expressed are not necessarily those of USAID or the United States government. MS-18-126.

ISBN: 978-1-64232-008-4

